# **Promoting Mental Health**

**CONCEPTS = EMERGING EVIDENCE = PRACTICE** 

## **SUMMARY REPORT**

A Report of the
World Health Organization,
Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse
in collaboration with
the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation
and
The University of Melbourne









World Health Organization

Geneva

# **Promoting Mental Health**

## **CONCEPTS = EMERGING EVIDENCE = PRACTICE**

## **SUMMARY REPORT**

A Report of the
World Health Organization,
Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse
in collaboration with
the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation
and
The University of Melbourne



## WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Promoting mental health: concepts, emerging evidence, practice: summary report / a report from the World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse in collaboration with the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) and the University of Melbourne.

1.Mental health 2.Health promotion 3 Mental disorders – prevention and control 4.Health policy 5.Evidence-based medicine 6.Developing countries I.World Health Organization

ISBN 92 4 159159 5 - (NLM classification: WM 31.5)

## © World Health Organization 2004

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Marketing and Dissemination, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel: +41 22 791 2476; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to Publications, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; email: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

Printed in France

## **Foreword**

- "...not merely the absence of disease or infirmity."
- "...attainment by all people of the highest possible level of health."
- "... to foster activities in the field of mental health, especially those affecting the harmony of human relations."

These objectives and functions of World Health Organization (WHO) are at the core of our commitment to mental health promotion.

Unfortunately, health professionals and health planners are often too preoccupied with the immediate problems of those who have a disease to be able to pay attention to needs of those who are "well". They also find it difficult to ensure that the rapidly changing social and environmental conditions in countries around the world support rather than threaten mental health. This situation is only partly based on the lack of clear concepts or of adequate evidence for effectiveness for health promoting interventions. This has much to do with how the professionals and planners are trained, what they see as their role in society and, in turn, what society expects them to do. In the case of mental health, this also has to do with our reluctance to discuss mental health issues openly.

The Summary Report on Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice is WHO's latest attempt to overcome these barriers. It describes the concept of mental health and its promotion. It tries to arrive at a degree of consensus on common characteristics of mental health promotion as well as variations across cultures. The Report also positions mental health promotion within the broader context of health promotion and public health. The evidence provided for some of the health and non-health interventions for mental health benefits is likely to be useful to health policy planners and public health professionals. The emphasis, however, is on the urgent need for a more systematic generation of evidence in the coming years, so that a stronger scientific base for further planning can be developed.

Prevention of mental disorders and promotion of mental health are distinct but overlapping aims. Many of the interventions discussed in this Report are also relevant for prevention. However, the scope of promotion as well as the target audience is considered much wider for mental health promotion. For this reason, WHO is releasing this report on promotion separately from and before another report on evidence for prevention of mental disorders.

I sincerely hope that the present Report will result in creating a more definite place for mental health promotion within the broader field of health promotion and will be useful for countries that WHO serves.

Dr Catherine Le Galès-Camus
Assistant Director-General
Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health
World Health Organization, Geneva

## **Table of Contents**

Pretace	5
Development of the Summary Report	6
Acknowledgements	7
Key messages	10
Introduction	12
What is mental health?	12
Promoting mental health is an integral part of public health	12
Mental health is more than the absence of mental illness	14
No health without mental health: mental health and behaviour	14
Part I: Concepts	16
Health and health promotion	16
Positive mental health	19
The intrinsic value of mental health	21
Culture and mental health	21
Social capital and mental health	22
Mental health and human rights	23
A conceptual framework for action	24
Part II: The emerging evidence	26
Objectives and actions of health promotion	26
Evidence and its use in mental health promotion	27
Social determinants of mental health	29
Links between physical health and mental health	31
Developing indicators of mental health	32
Evidence of effective interventions	34
Effective mental health promotion in low-income countries	41
Generating evidence on effectiveness and cost-effectiveness	45
Part III: Policy and practice	50
Mental health is everybody's business	50
Mental health promotion: an important component of mental health policy	50
A general framework for mental health promotion	52
Community development as a strategy for mental health promotion: lessons from a low-income country	53
Developing sustainable interventions	
An intersectoral approach to mental health promotion	
International collaboration and the role of WHO	
Key recommendations	
References	
neierences	00

## **Preface**

Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice aims to bring to life the mental health dimension of health promotion. The promotion of mental health is situated within the larger field of health promotion, and sits alongside the prevention of mental disorders and the treatment and rehabilitation of people with mental illnesses and disabilities. Like health promotion, mental health promotion involves actions that support people to adopt and maintain healthy lifestyles and which create supportive living conditions or environments for health. This Summary Report and the full Report on which it is based describe the concepts relating to promotion of mental health, the emerging evidence for effectiveness of interventions, and the public health policy and practice implications. This project complements the work of another major WHO project, which focuses on the evidence for prevention of mental disorders.

This Summary Report includes a selective review of the available evidence from a range of countries and cultures. It documents how actions such as advocacy, policy and project development, legislative and regulatory reform, communications, research, and evaluation may be achieved and monitored in countries at all stages of economic development. It considers strategies for continued growth of the evidence base and approaches to determining cost-effectiveness of actions. International cooperation and alliances will play a critical role in generating and applying the evidence by, for example, encouraging the social action required and monitoring the impact on mental health of a range of policies and practices.

Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice has been written for people working in the many health and non-health sectors of government, education, and business whose decisions affect mental health in ways that they may not realize. It is also a sympathetic account for people in the mental health professions who need to endorse and assist the promotion of mental health while continuing to deliver services for people living with mental illnesses. It is relevant to people working to develop policies and programmes in countries with low, medium and high levels of income and resources, as well as those concerned with guidelines for international action. The Report uses a public health framework to address the dilemma of competing priorities that is often a concern for planners and practitioners in low-income as well as affluent country settings.

Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice is the result of collaboration with scientific contributors from sectors outside as well as within health. The aims of the project were to facilitate a better understanding of the evidence and approaches to gathering local evidence, activation of the scientific community, and growth in international cooperation and alliances.

This Summary Report has been produced by the editors from the chapters and other material prepared for *Promoting Mental Health*: *Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice* to give readers a sense of the issues discussed in the larger and more detailed Report. Our hope is that readers will be encouraged to go on to read and think about these issues in more detail once the more comprehensive Report is available.

Helen Herrman, Shekhar Saxena, Rob Moodie Editors

## **Development of the Summary Report**

This Summary Report has been prepared by the editors of *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice* (Herrman, Saxena & Moodie in press) which is due to be released soon by WHO. The editors have selectively chosen and in some cases adapted material from the chapters provided by the contributing authors to the Report in order to give an overview of some of the important concepts, evidence and practice in mental health promotion. In doing so, they have given only an indication of the considerably more detailed discussions in the forthcoming Report.

The sections of this Summary Report reflect the working titles of the chapters in *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice* as listed below. Attribution to the authors of these chapters has not specifically been made in the Summary Report, except where material has been presented in another section in order to assist with continuity. When citing from the Summary Report, it would be appropriate to acknowledge the relevant chapter authors.

## **Details of the full Report**

Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice. A Report from the World Health Organisation, Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse in collaboration with the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) and The University of Melbourne, Herrman H, Saxena S & Moodie R. Geneva, WHO, in press.

## Chapters

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Health and health promotion
- 3 Positive mental health
- 4 The intrinsic value of mental health
- 5 Concepts of mental health across the world
- 6 Social capital and mental health
- 7 Mental health and human rights
- 8 A conceptual framework for action
- 9 Evidence and its use in mental health promotion
- 10 Social determinants of mental health
- 11 Physical and mental health and illness
- 12 Indicators of mental health
- 13 Evidence of effective interventions of mental health promotion
- 14 The evidence for mental health promotion in developing countries
- 15 Generating evidence on determinants, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness
- 16 Mental health promotion: an important component of policy
- 17 Strategies for promoting the mental health of populations
- 18 Community development as a strategy for mental health promotion: lessons from a low-income country
- 19 Developing sustainable interventions: theory and evidence
- 20 An intersectoral approach to mental health promotion
- 21 International collaboration and the role of WHO and other UN agencies
- 22 Conclusions The way forward

#### **Authors**

Herrman H, Saxena S, Moodie R Mittelmark M, Puska P, O'Byrne D, Tang K Kovess-Masfety V, Murray M, Gureje O Lehtinen V, Ozamiz A, Underwood L, Weiss M Sturgeon S, Orley J Whiteford H, Cullen M, Baingana F

Whiteford H, Cullen M, Baingana F Drew N, Funk M, Pathare S, Swartz L Walker L, Moodie R, Verins I Barry M, McQueen D

Anthony J

Raphael B, Schmolke M, Wooding S Zubrick S, Kovess-Masfety V Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E

Patel V, Swartz L, Cohen A

Petticrew M, Chisholm D, Thomson H, Jané-Llopis E Funk M, Gale E, Grigg M, Minoletti A, Yasamy M Lahtinen E, Joubert N, Raeburn J

Arole R. Fuller B. Deutschman P

Hawe P, Riley T, Ghali L

Taylor A, Rowling L

Saxena S, Saraceno B

## **Acknowledgements**

The editors compiled this Summary Report drawing directly on the material contributed as chapters and sections for *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice*, and in collaboration with Ms Lyn Walker, Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. The editors gratefully acknowledge the work of the contributors and advisers listed below.

The editors would also like to thank Ms Christine Hayes for her assistance with editing; Dr Amanda Favilla for her assistance in compiling and writing material; Ms Jean Cameron, Ms Margaret Nelson, and Ms Rosemary Westermeyer for their administrative assistance; and Ms Tushita Bosonet for the graphic design of the Summary Report.

WHO gratefully acknowledges financial assistance from the Government of Finland in the preparation of this Report.

#### **Editors**

#### **Professor Helen Herrman**

St Vincent's Mental Health Service Melbourne and The University of Melbourne Dept of Psychiatry, Melbourne, Australia

#### Dr Shekhar Saxena

Coordinator, Mental Health: Evidence and Research Dept of Mental Health & Substance Abuse World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

#### **Professor Rob Moodie**

Chief Executive Officer Victorian Health Promotion Foundation Victoria, Australia

#### **Advisors**

## **Dr Beverley Long**

World Federation for Mental Health Atlanta, USA

## **Professor Norman Sartorius**

University of Geneva Geneva, Switzerland

## Dr Dusica Lecic-Tosevski

President, World Psychiatric Association Section on Prevention of Mental Disorders School of Medicine, University of Belgrade Institute of Mental Health, Yugoslavia

## **Contributors to the full Report**

### **Dr James Anthony**

Chairperson, Department of Epidemiology State University of Michigan Michigan, USA

#### **Dr Rajanikant Arole**

Director, Comprehensive Rural Health Project Jamkhed, Maharashtra, India

## Dr Florence Baingana

Senior Health Specialist (Mental Health) The World Bank Washington DC, USA

#### Mr Chris Bale

Director, Partnership for Children London, United Kingdom

## Ms S Banerjee

Research Scholar Institute of Psychiatry Kolkata, India

#### **Dr Margaret Barry**

Department of Health Promotion National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland

## Dr Dan Chisholm

Global Program on Evidence for Health Policy World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

## **Professor AN Chowdhury**

Head, Institute of Psychiatry Kolkata, India

### **Dr Alex Cohen**

Assistant Professorof Social Medicine Harvard Medical School Boston, USA

## Ms Michelle Cullen

Consultant, Post Conflict Unit The World Bank Washington, USA

## Dr Peter Deutschmann

Director, Australian International Health Institute University of Melbourne Victoria, Australia

#### **Dr Jodie Dovle**

Coordinator

Cochrane Haelth Promotion and Public Haelth Field Australia

#### **Ms Natalie Drew**

Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse, World Health Organization Geneva. Switzerland

#### Ms Monica Eriksson

Project Leader, Nordic School of Public Health Sweden

#### Ms Beth Fuller

Senior Program Development Officer Australian International Health Institute The University of Melbourne Victoria. Australia

#### **Dr Michelle Funk**

Coordinator

Mental Health Policy and Service Development Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

#### Ms Elizabeth Gale

Chief Executive, Mentality London, United Kingdom

## Dr Laura Ghali

Community Health Sciences University of Calgary, Canada

#### Ms Margaret Grigg

**Technical Officer** 

Departement of Mental Health and Substance Abuse World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

## **Professor Oye Gureje**

Department of Psychiatry, University of Ibadan Ibadan, Nigeria

## **Professor Penny Hawe**

Makin Chair in Health and Society
Department of Community Health Services
University of Calgary, Canada

## **Professor Clemens Hosman**

Mental Health Promotion and Mental Disorders Prevention Unit, Universities of Nijmegen and Maastricht The Netherlands

## **Dr Eva Jane-Llopis**

Head of Science-Based Knowledge and Policy Prevention Research Center on Programme Development and Effect Management Department of Clinical Psychology and Personality University of Nijmegan, The Netherlands

#### Professor Natacha Joubert

Head, Mental Health Promotion Unit Health Canada

#### **Dr Corey Keyes**

Department of Sociology and Department of Behavioral Sciences and Health Education Emory University Georgia, USA

## **Professor Viviane Kovess-Mafesty**

Directrice, Fondation MGEN pour la Sante Publique Paris. France

#### Dr Eero Lahtinen

Senior Medical Officer
Ministry of Social Affairs and Health in Finland
Helsinki. Finland

#### **Professor Ville Lehtinen**

National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health – STAKES Mental Health Promotion Unit Helsinki, Finland

#### **Professor Bengt Lindstrom**

Nordic School of Public Health Goteborg, Sweden

#### Ms Merja Lyytijainen

Project Coordinator Finnish Association for Mental Health Finland

#### Dr David McQueen

Associate Director for Global Health Promotion Centres for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta, USA

#### Dr Alberto Minoletti

Director, Mental Health Unit Ministry of Health Santiago, Chile Professor Brian Mishara Director, Centre for Research and Intervention on Suicide and Euthanasia (CRISE) University of Quebec Montreal, Canada

#### Professor Maurice Mittelmark

President, International Union for Health Promotion and Education, Research Centre for Health Promotion University of Bergen Bergen, Norway

## Mr Michael Murray

Chief Executive, The Clifford Beers Foundation University of Central England Birmingham, United Kingdom

#### Dr Desmond O'Brvne

Health Education and Health Promotion Unit World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

#### **Dr John Orley**

Former Programme Manager in the Departement of Mental Health World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

## **Professor Agustin Ozamiz**

Professor of Sociology University Deusto, Bilbao Spain

## **Dr Vikram Patel**

Senior Lecturer
London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
Director, Sangath Centre
Goa. India

#### **Dr Soumitra Pathare**

Ruby Hall Clinic

Pune, India

#### **Dr Mark Petticrew**

MRC Social and Public Health Sciences Unit Glasgow, United Kingdom

#### Dr Pekka Puska

Director-General National Public Health Institute (KTL)

Helsinki, Finland

Former Director Communicable Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, World Health Organization Geneva, Switzerland

## **Associate Professor John Raeburn**

University of Auckland Aukland, New Zealand

## **Professor Beverley Raphael**

Director, Centre for Mental Health North Sydney, NSW, Australia

## **Dr Therese Riley**

Department of Community Health Sciences School of Public Health, La Trobe University Victoria, Australia

## **Associate Professor Louise Rawlings**

School of Policy and Practice University of Sydney New South Wales, Ausrtalia

## **Dr Benedetto Saraceno**

Director, Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse World Health Organization, Geneva Switzerland

#### Dr Margit Schmolke

International Centre for Mental Health Mt Sinai School of Medicine New York, USA

## **Dr Shona Sturgeon**

Dept of Social Development
School of Cape Town, Republic of South Africa
Professor Leslie Swartz
Director, Child Youth and Family Development
Human Sciences Research Council
Cape Town, Republic of South Africa

## Dr Kwok-Cho Tang

Senior Professional Officer, World Health Organisation Geneva, Switzerland

## **Ms Alison Taylor**

Chief Executive Officer, Mental Health Foundation Auckland, New Zealand

## **Ms Hilary Thomson**

MRC Social and Public Health Sciences Unit University of Glasgow Glasgow, United Kingdom

#### Ms Lynn Underwood

Fetzer Institute Kalamazoo, Michigan, USA

#### **Ms Irene Verins**

Senior Project Officer Victorian Health Promotion Foundation Victoria, Australia

#### Ms Lyn Walker

Director, Mental Health and Wellbeing Unit Victorian Health Promotion Foundation Victoria, Australia

#### **Professor Mitchell Weiss**

Professor and Head Department of Public Health and Epidemiology Swiss Tropical Institute Basel, Switzerland

## **Professor Harvey Whiteford**

Krutzmann Professor of Psychiatry University of Queensland The Park Centre of Mental Health Queensland, Australia

## **Professor Stephen Zubrick**

Head, Division of Population Sciences Institute for Child Health Research West Perth, WA, Australia

## **Key messages**

## There is no health without mental health

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines health as:

... a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (WHO 2001, p.1).

Mental health is clearly an integral part of this definition. The goals and traditions of public health and health promotion can be applied just as usefully in the field of mental health as they have been in heart health, infectious diseases and tobacco control.

## Mental health is more than the absence of mental illness: it is vital to individuals, families and societies

Mental health is described by WHO as:

... a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community (WHO 2001a, p.1).

In this positive sense mental health is the foundation for well-being and effective functioning for an individual and for a community. This core concept of mental heath is consistent with its wide and varied interpretation across cultures.

## Mental health is determined by socioeconomic and environmental factors

Mental health and mental illnesses are determined by multiple and interacting social, psychological, and biological factors, just as health and illness in general. The clearest evidence for this relates to the risk of mental illnesses, which in the developed and developing world is associated with indicators of poverty, including low levels of education, and in some studies with poor housing and low income. The greater vulnerability of disadvantaged people in each community to mental illnesses may be explained by such factors as the experience of insecurity and hopelessness, rapid social change, and the risks of violence and physical ill-health.

## Mental health is linked to behaviour

Mental, social, and behavioural health problems may interact so as to intensify their effects on behaviour and well-being. Substance abuse, violence, and abuses of women and children on the one hand, and health problems such as heart disease, depression, and anxiety on the other, are more prevalent and more difficult to cope with in conditions of high unemployment, low income, limited education, stressful work conditions, gender discrimination, unhealthy lifestyle, and human rights violations.

## Mental health can be enhanced by effective public health interventions

The improvement in heart health in several countries has had more to do with attention to environment, tobacco, and nutrition policies than with specific medicines or treatment techniques. The malign effects of changing environmental conditions on heart health have been reversed to varying extents by actions at multiple levels.

Similarly, research has shown that mental health can be affected by non-health policies and practices, for example in housing, education, and child care. This accentuates the need to assess the effectiveness of policy and practice interventions in diverse health and non-health areas. Despite uncertainties and gaps in the evidence, we know enough about the links between social experience and mental health to make a compelling case to apply and evaluate locally appropriate policy and practice interventions to promote mental health.

## Collective action depends on shared values as much as the quality of scientific evidence

In some communities, time-honoured practices and ways of life maintain mental health even though mental health may not be identified as the outcome, or identified by name. In other communities, people need to be convinced that making an effort to improve mental health is realistic and worthwhile.

## A climate that respects and protects basic civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights is fundamental to the promotion of mental health

Without the security and freedom provided by these rights it is very difficult to maintain a high level of mental health.

## Intersectoral linkage is the key for mental health promotion

Mental health can be improved through the collective action of society. Improving mental health requires policies and programmes in government and business sectors including education, labour, justice, transport, environment, housing, and welfare, as well as specific activities in the health field relating to the prevention and treatment of ill-health.

## Mental health is everybody's business

Those who can do something to promote mental health, and who have something to gain, include individuals, families, communities, commercial organizations, and health professionals. Particularly important are the decision-makers in governments at local and national levels whose actions affect mental health in ways that they may not realize. International bodies can ensure that countries at all stages of economic development are aware of the importance of mental health to community development. They can also encourage them to assess the possibilities and evidence for intervening to improve the mental health of their population.

## Introduction

Public health is the science and art of promoting health, preventing disease, and prolonging life through the organised efforts of society (WHO 1998, p. 3).

This [20th] century has seen greater gains in health for the populations of the world than at any other time in history. These gains have been made partly as a result of improvements in income and education, with accompanying improvements in nutrition, hygiene, housing, water supply and sanitation. They are also the result of new knowledge about the causes, prevention and treatment of disease and the introduction of policies that have made intervention programmes more accessible. The greatest advances in health have been made through a combination of structural change and the actions of individuals (Nutbeam 2000 p.1).

Health polices in the 21st century will need to be constructed from the key question..."What makes people healthy?" (Kickbusch 2003, p. 386).

## What is mental health?

Since its inception, WHO has included mental well-being in the definition of health. WHO famously defines health as:

... a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (WHO 2001, p.1).

Three ideas central to the improvement of health follow from this definition: mental health is an integral part of health, mental health is more than the absence of illness, and mental health is intimately connected with physical health and behaviour.

Defining mental health is important, although not always necessary to achieving its improvement. Differences in values across countries, cultures, classes, and genders can appear too great to allow a consensus on a definition (WHO 2001b). However, just as age or wealth each have many different expressions across the world and yet have a core common-sense universal meaning, so mental health can be conceptualized without restricting its interpretation across cultures. WHO has recently proposed that mental health is:

... a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community (WHO 2001a, p.1).

In this positive sense, mental health is the foundation for well-being and effective functioning for an individual and for a community. It is more than the absence of mental illness, for the states and capacities noted in the definition have value in themselves.

Neither mental nor physical health can exist alone. Mental, physical, and social functioning are interdependent. Furthermore, health and illness may co-exist. They are mutually exclusive only if health is defined in a restrictive way as the absence of disease (Sartorius 1990). Recognizing health as a state of balance including the self, others, and the environment helps communities and individuals understand how to seek its improvement.

## Promoting mental health is an integral part of public health

Mental health and mental illness are determined by multiple and interacting social, psychological, and biological factors, just as health and illness in general. The clearest evidence relates to the risks of mental illnesses, which in the developed and developing world are associated with indi-

cators of poverty, including low levels of education. The association between poverty and mental disorders appears to be universal, occurring in all societies irrespective of their levels of development. Factors such as insecurity and hopelessness, rapid social change, and the risks of violence and physical ill-health may explain the greater vulnerability of poor people in any country to mental illnesses (Patel & Kleinman 2003). The findings from a recent natural experiment in poverty reduction with the opening of a casino on an American Indian reservation go a long way in demonstrating the reality of social causation for disturbed childhood behaviour, for example. After introduction of the casino, the rates of such behaviour reduced. The mediating variable appeared to be improved parental supervision of the children. Economic levels have important implications for family functioning and child mental health (Costello et al. 2003; Rutter 2003). Mental, social, and behavioural health problems may interact to intensify each other's effects on behaviour and well-being. Substance abuse, violence, and abuses of women and children on the one hand, and health problems such as heart disease, depression, and anxiety on the other, are more prevalent and more difficult to cope with in conditions of high unemployment, low income, limited education, stressful work conditions, gender discrimination, unhealthy lifestyle, and human rights violations (Desjarlais et al. 1995).

Mental health for each person is affected by individual factors and experiences, social interaction, societal structures and resources, and cultural values. It is influenced by experiences in everyday life, in families and schools, on streets, and at work (Lehtinen, Riikonen & Lahtinen 1997; Lahtinen et al. 1999). The mental health of each person in turn affects life in each of these domains and hence the health of a community or population. Ethnographic studies in the developing world show how environments and social settings such as the slums of Mumbai shape local experience and the mental health of communities (Parkar, Fernandes & Weiss 2003). Some of the newest researches across the disciplines of genetics, neuroscience, the social sciences, and mental health involve elaborations of ideas about the impact that societies have on human life over and above the sum of the impact of the individual members of the society (Anthony in press).

Yet mental health and mental illness by and large are viewed as residing outside the public health tradition with its fundamental concepts of health and illness as multifactorial in origin (Cooper 1993) and of there being a continuum between health and illness (Rose 1992). The consequences are twofold. First, the opportunities for improving mental health in a community are not fully exploited. Second, organized efforts in countries to reduce the social and economic burden of mental illnesses tend to depend mostly on the treatment of ill individuals.

Mental illnesses are common and universal. Worldwide, mental and behavioural disorders represented 11% of the total disease burden in 1990, expressed in terms of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) (WHO 2001b). This is predicted to increase to 15% by 2020. Mental health problems also result in a variety of other costs to the society (WHO 2003). Depression was the fourth largest contributor to the disease burden in 1990 and is expected to be the second largest after ischaemic heart disease by 2020. Yet, mental illness and mental health have been neglected topics for most governments and societies. Recent data collected by WHO demonstrates the large gap that exists between resources that are available in countries for mental health and the burden caused by mental health problems (WHO 2001c). In contrast to the overall health gains of the world's populations in recent decades, the burden of mental illness has grown (Eisenberg 1998; Desjarlais et al. 1995).

This neglect is based at least in part on confusion and false assumptions about the separate concepts of mental health and mental illness. Until now, the prevailing stigma surrounding mental

illness has encouraged the euphemistic use of the term "mental health" to describe treatment and support services for people with mental disorders and in other matters related to mental ill-health. This usage contributes to confusion about the concept of mental health as well as the concept of mental illness.

In most parts of the world the treatment of mental illness was alienated from the rest of medicine and health care at least until recently. In the isolated setting of asylums, practitioners saw many seemingly incurable patients. The supposed incurability of insanity and melancholy made practitioners believe the causes were entirely biological. The idea has since persisted that prevention of mental illness is "all or none" (Cooper 1990) and, furthermore, that promotion of mental health is somehow far removed from the problems of the real world and could even shift resources from the treatment and rehabilitation of people affected by mental illness.

The twin aims of improving mental health and lowering the personal and social costs of mental ill-health can only be achieved through a public health approach (Sartorius 1998; VicHealth 1999; Hosman 2001; Herrman 2001; Walker, Moodie & Herrman 2004). Within a public health framework, the activities that can improve health include the promotion of health, the prevention of illness and disability, and the treatment and rehabilitation of those affected. These are different from one another, even though the actions and outcomes overlap. They are all required, are complementary, and one is no substitute for the other.

## Mental health is more than the absence of mental illness

As already noted, mental health implies fitness rather than freedom from illness. In 2003, George Vaillant in the USA commented that mental health is too important to be ignored, it needs to be defined. As Vaillant (2003) points out, this is a complex task. "Average mental health" is not the same as "healthy", for averaging always includes mixing in with the healthy the prevailing amount of psychopathology. What is healthy sometimes depends on geography, culture, and the historical moment. Whether one is discussing state or trait also needs to be clear – is an athlete temporarily disabled with a fractured ankle healthy or the asymptomatic person with a history of bipolar affective disorder healthy or unhealthy? There is also "the two-fold danger of contamination by values" (Vaillant 2003, p. 1374) – a given culture's definition of mental health can be parochial and, even if mental health is "good", what is it good for? The self or the society? For fitting in or for creativity? For happiness or for survival? Even so, Vaillant advocates that common sense should prevail and that certain elements have a universal importance to mental health; just as despite every culture differing in its diet, the importance of vitamins and the four basic food groups is universal.

## No health without mental health: mental health and behaviour

Mental health status is associated with behaviour at all stages of life. A body of evidence indicates that the social factors associated with mental ill-health are also associated with alcohol and drug use, crime, and dropout from school. The absence of the determinants of health, and the presence of noxious factors, also appear to have a major role in other risk behaviours such as unsafe sexual behaviour, road trauma, and physical inactivity. Furthermore, there are complex interactions between these determinants, behaviours and mental health. For example, a lack of meaningful employment may be associated with depression, and alcohol and drug use. This may in turn result in road trauma, the consequences of which are physical disability and loss of employment

(Walker, Moodie & Herrman 2004). Kleinman (1999) describes the clustering of mental and social health problems in "broken communities" in shantytowns and slums and among vulnerable and marginal migrant populations: civil violence, domestic violence, suicide, substance abuse, depression, and post traumatic disorder cluster and coalesce. He calls for a research agenda and innovative policies and programmes "that can prevent the simply enormous burden that mental illness has on the health of societies resulting from the variety of forms of social violence in our era" (Kleinman 1999, p. 979). The corollary is the need for the development and evaluation of programmes that on the one hand control and reduce such clusters, and on the other hand assist people and families to cope in these circumstances.

Physical health and mental health are closely associated through various mechanisms, as studies of links between depression and heart and vascular disease are demonstrating. The importance of mental health in the maintenance of good physical health and in recovery from physical illness is now well substantiated, as is the converse. Mental health status is a key consideration in changing the health status of a community.

Various types of evidence suggest that mental health and/or its determinants can be improved in association with planned or unplanned changes in the social and physical environment. This will be discussed in the following pages. Prudence suggests that sufficient justification exists for programme and policy interventions accompanied by evaluation of process and outcomes in countries of high or low income. It also suggests the need to monitor the effects on mental health of social, economic, and environmental changes in any country. These actions in turn will continue to expand the evidence base to encourage further prudent interventions designed to improve or maintain mental health, to suit each unique time, country, locality, and population.

This publication provides an editorial summary of the concepts, evidence, and policies and practices relating to mental health promotion that are outlined in greater detail in the full Report.

## **Part I: Concepts**

This section considers a number of concepts associated with health, health promotion, and mental health, and their use across different cultures, countries, and subpopulations. The aim is to describe the place of mental health in health promotion and of mental health promotion in the larger area of mental health. This sets the scene to consider in Parts 2 and 3 the evidence of effectiveness in promoting mental health and the implications for policy and practice.

## **Health and health promotion**

## The "new" public health

Health promotion is an emerging field of action, often referred to as the "new" public health (Baum 1998). It is often defined indirectly by first examining the idea of "health"; however, the term "health" is itself imprecise.

"Health" can refer both to absent and present states. It is often used to mean the absence of disease or disability, but, just as often, health may refer to a state of fitness and ability, or to a reservoir of personal resources that can be called on when needed (Naidoo & Wills 2000). People with different backgrounds and cultures may hold different conceptions of health. When lay people describe what it means to be healthy, their responses reflect often the particular circumstances of their lives. Under some circumstances, they equate health with freedom from disease; in others, they equate health with autonomy or with vitality. Older people, for example, tend to define health as inner strength and the ability to cope with life's challenges; younger people tend to emphasize the importance of fitness, energy, and strength. People with comfortable living conditions tend to think of health in the context of enjoying life; people not so well-off tend to connect health with managing the essentials of daily living.

Nonetheless, some solid attempts have been made to construct a unified theory of health (Seedhouse 1986; Tones & Tilford 2001). Unified theories of health such as that propounded by WHO cover wide territory, including environmental and individual factors. The obvious implication is that the promotion of health must have foci on both the individual and the environment. This calls for the involvement of a much broader array of interventions and actors than does the traditional model of medicine, which centres on specialists trained to return function to individuals.

Health promotion has been defined as action and advocacy to address the full range of potentially modifiable determinants of health (WHO 1998). Health promotion and prevention are necessarily related and overlapping activities. Because the former is concerned with the determinants of health and the latter focuses on the causes of disease, promotion is sometimes used as an umbrella concept covering also the more specific activities of prevention (Lehtinen, Riikonen & Lahtinen 1997).

## **Determinants of health**

Determinants of health are those factors that can enhance or threaten an individual's or a community's health status. These can be matters of individual choice, such as whether to smoke tobacco or not, or can relate to social, economic, and environmental characteristics beyond the control of individuals. Examples include the person's social class, gender, ethnicity, access to education, quality of housing, and presence of supportive relationships, and in the community the level of social and civic participation, availability of work, air quality, and building design.

#### Levels of intervention

There is mounting evidence that it is possible to intervene at several levels, from local to national, to improve health (Benzeval et al. 1995). The factors over which individuals have little or no control require the collective attention of a society as encapsulated by the Ottawa Charter of Health Promotion (WHO 1986). The five action strategies identified by the Charter remain today the basic blueprint for health promotion in many parts of the world (see box).

## Ottawa Charter of Health Promotion (WHO 1986)

## **Action strategies**

- ✓ Build healthy public policy
- Create supportive environments
- ✔ Develop personal skills
- ✔ Reorient health services
- ✓ Strengthen community action

## **Health inequalities and inequities**

Inequalities in health are related to a wide range of social factors, including those already noted. Inequalities also result to a degree from individual differences in genetics, health related behaviour, and choices regarding education, work, and play. To the degree that inequalities are a consequence of social injustice, there exists not merely inequality, but inequity as well.

At all levels, from local to national, examples can be found of policies and interventions that assist people living in social and economic disadvantage to have better health (Benzeval et al. 1995; Black & Mittelmark 1999). According to WHO, health promoting policies are needed not only in the health care sector, but also in the economic, environmental, and social sectors for positive impact on the determinants of health and improved health equity (WHO 1998).

## The political dimension of health promotion

Discussions about what should be done are shaped by the nuances of a particular situation in a particular place at a particular time. Under what conditions, for example, does a health risk warrant an information campaign, a stern advisory, or a policy of forced commitment? Scientific evidence can never provide a fully satisfactory answer, and political considerations enter naturally into the decision-making process. Health promotion politics involves advocating both individual and collectivist interventions for social change.

## **Health promotion practice**

Despite diverse settings, health promotion work exhibits common features based on collaboration and recurrent cycles of programme planning, implementation, and evaluation. Influential models (Tones & Tilford 2001; Raeburn & Rootman 1998) emphasize the intention to build people's capacity to manage their own health and to work collaboratively. Virtually all health promotion practice models include:

- 1. a careful study of a community's needs, resources, priorities, history, and structure in collaboration with the community: "doing with" rather than "doing to";
- 2. agreement on a plan of action, gathering of resources, implementation, and monitoring of action and change processes. Fluidity is needed in planning and acting to meet the demands of new or changing conditions, as well as constant surveillance of and reflection over practice; and
- 3. an emphasis on evaluation and dissemination of best practices, with attention to maintaining and improving quality as dissemination unfolds.

## The nature of health promotion evidence

## The principle of prudence

A resolution to employ an evidence-based approach to health promotion was adopted by the 1998 World Health Assembly (WHA51.12). Generating evidence of the effectiveness of health promotion can be challenging, however. Health promotion is social action. Controlled laboratory experiments, therefore, are often inappropriate ways to generate evidence of its effectiveness. Instead, consensus about effectiveness is based on methodological triangulation that leads to a converging interpretation of evidence of different kinds, from different places, generated by different researchers. The "principle of prudence" recognizes that all evidence has weaknesses, that we can never know enough to act with certainty, but that we can in many cases be sure enough of the quality of the existing evidence to make recommendations for action.

Much of the evidence of health promotion's effectiveness must be derived from community-based research. There cannot be total reliance on traditional, quantitative measures. Including qualitative methods gives a better understanding of what works and what does not. Although such "real world" research is a complex undertaking, it is nevertheless possible to develop a body of dependable knowledge.

Major successes in health promotion over recent decades have occurred in several arenas of action, including tobacco control and heart health. The implementation and evaluation of a heart health promotion programme in Finland is a good example of this (see box). In a number of cases, these efforts have been supported by international conventions and collaborations (e.g. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control — WHO 2003a; the WHO Healthy Cities project).

## A health promotion case-study: heart health promotion in Eastern Finland

The potential for health promotion as a tool for the prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is illustrated well by a project undertaken over 25 years in the Province of North Karelia in Eastern Finland. Among the male population in North Karelia smoking was greatly reduced and dietary habits changed. The dietary changes led to a 17% reduction in the mean population level of serum cholesterol between 1972 and 1997. Elevated blood pressures were brought well under control and leisure time physical activity increased. Among women, similar changes in dietary habits, cholesterol, and blood pressure levels took place, although smoking increased somewhat from a low level. By 1995, the annual mortality rate from coronary heart disease in the middle-aged (below 65 years) male population had reduced by 73% from the pre-programme years (1967–71). During recent years, the decline in CVD mortality among men and women in North Karelia has been approximately 8% per year. Since the 1980s, favourable changes also began to develop in all Finland. By 1995, the annual CVD mortality among men in all of Finland had reduced by 65%. At the same time, the lung cancer mortality had also reduced, by more than 70% in North Karelia and by nearly 60% in all Finland.

The experiences of the North Karelia and other CVD programmes give grounds for the following recommendations for successful heart health promotion (Puska 2002):

- Preventive community programmes should pay attention to the well-established principles and rules
  of general programme planning, implementation, and evaluation.
- Preventive community programmes should be concerned with both appropriate medical/epidemiological frameworks to select the intermediate objectives and with relevant behavioural/social theories in designing the intervention programme.

- Good understanding of the community ("community diagnosis"), close collaboration with various community organizations, and full participation of the people are essential.
- Community intervention programmes should combine well-planned media and communication messages with broad-ranged community activities involving primary health care, voluntary organizations, food industry and supermarkets, worksites, schools, local media, and so on.
- Community intervention programmes should seek collaboration and support from both formal community decision-makers and informal opinion leaders.
- Successful community intervention programmes need to combine sound theoretical frameworks with dedication, persistence, and hard work.
- A major emphasis and strength of a community intervention programme should be attempts to change social and physical environments in the community to be more conducive to health and healthy lifestyles.
- Major community intervention programmes can be useful for a target community but can also have broader impact as a national demonstration programme. For this, proper evaluation should be carried out and results disseminated.
- For national implications, the project should work in close contact with national health policy-makers throughout the programme.

## The strength of the evidence

There are two focal issues with regard to health promotion evidence: the strength of the evidence and its implications for research, practice, and policy development. The strength of evidence is influenced by the design of interventions and related methodological issues such as the validity and effectiveness of efforts to minimize bias. A useful strength-of-evidence typology that has reference to three elements of scientific enquiry – falsifiability, predictability, and repeatability – results in four types of evidence (Tang, Ehsani & McQueen 2003):

- Type A: What works is known, how it works is known, and repeatability is universal.
- Type B: What works is known, how it works is known, but repeatability is limited.
- Type C: What works is known, repeatability is universal, but how it works is not known.
- Type D: What works is known, how it works is not known, and repeatability is also limited.

Health promotion research operates in an environment where numerous cultural, social, economic, and political factors interact. Complexities are involved that rarely resolve sufficiently to produce Type A evidence. Health promotion strives, therefore, for Type B evidence, and this has important implications for practice. It is unlikely that the effectiveness of a health promotion intervention can be guaranteed beforehand; hence, evaluation research needs to be combined with health promotion practice.

## Positive mental health

The evidence for promoting mental health depends on defining, measuring, and recording mental health. Over the last 30 years, research has contributed to an understanding of what is meant by the term "mental health", although this understanding has been constrained by the fact that much of the evidence that is accessible widely is recorded in the English language and obtained in developed countries. Mental health has been variously conceptualized as a positive emotion (affect) such as feelings of happiness, a personality trait inclusive of the psychological resources of self-esteem and mastery, and as resilience, which is the capacity to cope with adversity. Various aspects and models of mental health contribute to our understanding of what is meant by positive mental health. A number of aspects are described in the accompanying box.

## Some views around the concept of positive mental health

## **Cultural context**

Jahoda (1958) elaborated on the 1947 WHO declaration that "health is not merely the absence of illness but a complete state of physical, psychological and social well-being" by separating mental health into three domains. First, mental health involves self-realization in that individuals are allowed to fully exploit their potential. Second, mental health includes a sense of mastery by the individual over their environment, and, finally, that positive mental health also means autonomy, as in individuals having the ability to identify, confront, and solve problems. Others, like HB Murphy (1978), argued that these ideas were laden with cultural values considered important by North Americans. The definition of mental health is clearly influenced by the culture that defines it. Mental health has different meanings depending on setting, culture, socioeconomic and political influences.

## **Personality types**

Leighton & Murphy (1987) defined various personality types and their coping strategies. They hypothesized that well people have different coping strategies, some of which can be relatively unhealthy, and, when challenged, may put individuals at risk for mental illness.

#### Affective dimension

Positive mental health can be conceptualized as a subjective sense of well-being. Bradburn (1965) devised a scale to measure the positive and negative facets of psychological well-being. Later work researching the definition and determinants of subjective well-being suggests that it has more effect on the environment than the environment exerts on it.

## Salutogenic approach

Antonovsky proposed the "salutogenic" approach that focuses on coping rather than breakdown, and "salutary" factors rather than risk factors. He viewed stressors as having the potential for positive, neutral, or negative consequences. A sense of coherence is considered to be vital to positive mental health as it involves a capacity to respond flexibly to stressors. Optimism appears the dominant cognition of the mentally healthy, and optimists have been found to have better coping mechanisms such as acceptance of reality and reliance on personal growth (Scheier & Carver 1992).

#### Resilience

The capacity to cope with adversity and to avoid breakdown when confronted by stressors differs tremendously among individuals. Not all responses to stress are pathological and they may serve as coping mechanisms. Numerous researchers have studied healthy mechanisms of defence and coping. Rutter (1985) conceived of resilience as a product of environment and constitution that is an interactive process. Protective factors can modify a person's responses to an environmental hazard so that the outcome is not always detrimental and protective factors may only become detectable in the face of a stressor.

## Psychoanalytical approach

The psychoanalytical approach proposes positive mental health criteria as the person's capacity to use their internal energy for realization in emotional, intellectual, and sexual domains.

## Quality of life approach

Quality of life is defined by WHO as "an individual's perception of his/her position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which he/she lives, and in relation to his/her goals, expectations, standards and concerns" (WHOQOL Group 1995). This definition reflects a broad view of well-being encompassing the person's satisfaction with social, environmental, psychological, spiritual, and health status. The concept of quality of life describes health, including mental health, in terms that capture positive as well as negative aspects of coping, resilience, satisfaction, and autonomy, among others.

## The intrinsic value of mental health

Mental health contributes to all aspects of human life. It has both material and immaterial, or intrinsic, values: for the individual, society, and culture. Mental health has a reciprocal relationship with the well-being and productivity of a society and its members. Its value can be considered in several related ways:

- Mental health is essential for the well-being and functioning of individuals.
- Good mental health is an important resource for individuals, families, communities, and nations.
- Mental health, as an indivisible part of general health, contributes to the functions of society, and has an effect on overall productivity.
- Mental health concerns everyone as it is generated in our everyday lives in homes, schools, workplaces, and in leisure activities.
- Positive mental health contributes to the social, human, and economic capital of every society.
- Spirituality can make a significant contribution to mental health promotion and mental health influences spiritual life (see Underwood-Gordon 1999).

Mental health can be regarded as an individual resource, contributing to the individual's quality of life, and can be increased or diminished by the actions of society. An aspect of good mental health is the capacity for mutually satisfying and enduring relationships. There is growing evidence that social cohesion is critical for the economic prospering of communities and this relationship appears to be reciprocal.

## **Culture and mental health**

As already noted, although the qualities included in the concept of mental health may be universal, their expression differs individually, culturally, and in relation to different contexts. It is necessary to understand a particular community's concepts of mental health before engaging in mental health promotion. The broad nature of mental health also means that it is not just the preserve of the mental health professional.

Each culture influences the way people understand mental health and their regard for it. An understanding of and sensitivity to factors valued by different cultures will increase the relevance and success of potential interventions. A Xhosa mother in apartheid era South Africa whose explanation for not comforting her crying son was to ensure he grew up strong enough to leave the country and join the armed struggle exemplifies this. Young soldiers in Angola experienced

disruption to their developmental experiences and education (Lavikainen, Lahtinen & Lehtinen 2000; Mendes 2003). Their reports of feeling different and having difficulty relating to others enabled tailored approaches to helping them adjust to peacetime society. Stigma is a major concern to people affected by HIV/AIDS. Efforts to understand this group's concepts of mental health make a major contribution to developing relevant intervention programmes.

A culture-specific approach to understanding and improving mental health may be unhelpful, however, if it assumes homogeneity within cultures and ignores individual differences. Today, most cultures overlap and are heterogeneous. The beliefs and actions of groups need to be understood in their political, economic, and social contexts; culture is one of several factors to be considered (Tomlinson 2001).

## Social capital and mental health

On the one hand, millions of dollars are committed to alleviating ill-health through individual intervention. Meanwhile we ignore what our everyday experience tells us, i.e. the way we organize our society, the extent to which we encourage interaction among the citizenry and the degree to which we trust and associate with each other in caring communities is probably the most important determinant of our health (Lomas 1998 p. 1181).

In the renaissance of thinking in recent decades about social collectivity and health promotion, the concept of "social capital" has been prominent. It is invoked to reframe previously individualized lines of research on the social determinants of health generally and mental health in particular (Anthony in press). Extending beyond the tools and training that enhance individual productivity ("physical capital" and "human capital"), social capital "refers to features of social organization such as networks, norms, and social trust that facilitate coordination and cooperation for mutual benefit" (Putnam 1995). Economic and social environments also affect social capital.

Social capital is not an individual perception or resource. Challenges remain in defining and measuring it without reduction to the individual level. Potential detriments include exclusion of nonmembers and minority groups, and excessive demand on members of social organizations. A consensus is growing, however, that social capital facilitates collective action and can promote social and economic growth and development by complementing other forms of capital.

Research over the last two decades has demonstrated links between social capital and economic development, the effectiveness of human service systems, and community development. Social scientists have investigated how higher social capital may protect individuals from social isolation, create social safety, lower crime levels, improve schooling and education, enhance community life, and improve work outcomes (Woolcock 1998). Researchers have begun to analyse the relationships between social capital and mental health (Kawachi & Berkman 2001; McKenzie, Whitley & Weich 2002; Sartorius 2003). The relationship between social capital, health, and mental health, and the potential of mental health promotion to enhance social capital are current topics of research and debate.

Population health measures or risk factors are usually considered as the aggregate of the individual characteristics in the population. Consideration is usually one of binary associations between one (or more) environmental factors and individual health (Marmot 1998). The power of social capital lies in its potential to understand the environment in another way – the interaction between environmental and social factors and connected groups of individuals. This perspective of networks of

individuals interacting with environments has the power to explain an array of collective outcomes beyond that explained by aggregated individual health outcomes (Anthony in press).

Much work remains to be done in accounting for the mechanisms underlying the health–community link (Gillies 1999; Henderson & Whiteford 2003) and the interrelations between social capital and mental health. It is also unclear if the relations between these two variables are multidirectional, and of causality or correlation (Lochner, Kawachi & Kennedy 1999). However, social networks are believed to promote social cohesion, informal caring, protection during crises, better health education, and better access to health services, and to enforce or change societal norms that have an impact on public health (e.g. smoking, sanitation, and sexual practices) (Baum 1999; Kawachi, Kennedy & Glass 1999).

## Links between social cohesion, suicide, and antisocial behaviour

Variations in anti-social and suicidal behaviour have been traced to strengths or absences of social cohesion (OECD 2001). Weak social controls and the disruption of local community organization have long been hypothesized to be factors producing increased rates of suicide (Durkheim 1897) and crime (Shaw & McKay 1942).

## Mental health and human rights

A climate that respects and protects basic civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights is fundamental to the promotion of mental health. Without the security and freedom provided by these rights it is very difficult to maintain a high level of mental health (Gostin 2001).

A human rights framework offers a useful tool for identifying and addressing the underlying determinants of mental health. The instruments which make up the United Nations (UN) human rights mechanism represent a set of universally accepted values and principles which can guide countries in the design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of mental health policies, laws, and programmes. As legal norms and standards ratified by governments, they generate accountability for mental health and thus offer a useful standard against which government performance in the promotion of mental health can be assessed.

Human rights empower individuals and communities by granting them entitlements that give rise to legal obligations on governments. They can help to equalize the distribution and exercise of power within society, thus mitigating the powerlessness of the poor (WHO 2002b). The principles of equality and freedom from discrimination, which are integral elements of the international human rights framework, demand that particular attention be given to vulnerable groups. Furthermore, the right of all people to participate in decision-making processes, which is reflected in the Bill of Rights and other UN instruments, can help ensure that marginalized groups are able to influence health-related matters and strategies that affect them, and that their interests are considered and addressed.

Mental health promotion is not solely the domain of ministries of health. It requires the involvement of a wide range of sectors, actors, and stakeholders. Human rights encompass civil, cultural, economic, political, and social dimensions and thus provide an intersectoral framework to consider mental health across the wide range of mental health determinants.

## A conceptual framework for action

The Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth) in Australia developed a conceptual framework for action to guide its mental health promotion efforts (see Figure 1). Central to this framework is a focus on three of the determinants of mental health (social inclusion, freedom from discrimination and violence, and economic participation), identification of priority population groups and areas and settings for action, and a description of the anticipated benefits.

While mental ill-health is present in all populations, it is more common among people with relative social and economic disadvantage (Desjarlais et al. 1995). Integral to VicHealth's health promotion framework is the desire to reduce health inequities. In VicHealth's view, to be successful in this, efforts need to:

- focus on social and economic determinants of mental health;
- involve the full range of health promotion methodologies that work at the population and subpopulation levels; and
- engage those working across sectors and settings.

Due to the relationship between social and economic factors and mental health, success in promoting mental health and well-being can only be achieved and sustained by the involvement and support of the whole community, and the development of partnerships between a range of agencies in the public, private, and nongovernment sectors.

In order to recruit the cross-sector engagement required, synergies across sectors need to be located and a common language developed, which has a focus on health as opposed to illness. Given the scarcity of resources and the global effort required for managing and reducing the mental health burden, it is also critical that any perception of competing for resources with the health treatment sector is avoided.

Government policy, research, and practice take place in systems or organizations that have little involvement with each other. In order to develop effective mental health promotion activity at a population level, integration mechanisms across these "silos" must be developed. Long-term and integrated planning, implementation, and investment are required. Evaluation needs to occur and progress will be slow. Long-term gains are not always the drivers attractive to governments in the short-term, so effective ways of managing political discourse must be developed.

Health promotion is an emerging field of activity, with mental health promotion being one of the most recent areas of focus. While the rhetoric of health promotion includes the use of multiple methods to change the structural determinants of health, challenges lie in the development of workforces within health and other sectors with the conceptual and practice skills required. It is also critical that interdisciplinary collaborations are forged between those working in health and sociopolitical domains at the academic level. This will require an ideological as well as a cultural shift in the competitive academic environment. Finally, competition across sectors and disciplines will obstruct progress. The development of international collaborative arrangements is fundamental to ensuring that mental health promotion activity takes place in developed and developing countries and is informed by shared wisdom and expertise.

Figure 1: VicHealth's framework for the promotion of mental health and well-being

Key Determinants of Mental Health & Themes For Action			
Social inclusion	Freedom from discrimination & violence	Economic participation	
<ul><li>Supportive relationships</li></ul>	■ Valuing of diversity	■ Work	
<ul><li>Involvement in group</li></ul>	■ Physical security	■ Education	
activities	■ Self-determination and	■ Housing	
■ Civic engagement	control of one's life	■ Money	



Population Groups & Action Areas		
Population groups	Health promotion action	
<ul> <li>Children</li> <li>Young people</li> <li>Women and men</li> <li>Older people</li> <li>Indigenous communities</li> <li>Culturally diverse communities</li> <li>People who live in rural communities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Research, monitoring &amp; evaluation</li> <li>Individual skill development</li> <li>Organisational development</li> <li>Community strengthening</li> <li>Communication &amp; marketing</li> <li>Advocacy of legislative &amp; policy reform</li> </ul>	



Sectors & Settings for Action						
HOUSING	COMMUNITY	EDUCATION	WORKPLACE	SPORT,		HEALTH
TRANSPORT	CORPORATE	PUBLIC	ACADEMIC	LOCAL	GOVT.	JUSTICE



	Intermediate Outcomes	
Individual	Organisational & Community	Societal
Increased sense of:     belonging     self-esteem     self-determination     & control	<ul> <li>Accessible and responsive organisations</li> <li>Safe, supportive &amp; inclusive environments</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Integrated &amp; supportive public policy &amp; programmes</li> <li>Strong legislative platform</li> <li>Resource allocation</li> </ul>







	Long-term Benefits	
Less anxiety & depression Less substance misuse Improved physical health	Improved productivity at work, home & school Less violence & crime	Reduced health inequalities Improved quality of life & life expectancy

Source: VicHealth 1999.

## Part II: The emerging evidence

Effective health promotion leads to changes in the determinants of health (Nutbeam 2000, p. 3).

## Objectives and actions of health promotion

The personal, social, and environmental factors that determine mental health and mental illness may be clustered conceptually around three themes (HEA 1997; Lehtinen, Riikonen & Lahtinen 1997; Lahtinen et al. 1999):

- the development and maintenance of healthy communities
  This then provides a safe and secure environment, good housing, positive educational experiences, employment, good working conditions, and a supportive political infrastructure; minimises conflict and violence; allows self-determination and control of one's life; and provides community validation, social support, positive role models, and the basic needs of food, warmth, and shelter.
- each person's ability to deal with the social world through skills like participating, tolerating
  diversity, and mutual responsibility
   This is associated with positive experiences of early bonding, attachment, relationships, communication, and feelings of acceptance.
- each person's ability to deal with thoughts and feelings, the management of life, and emotional resilience
  - This is associated with physical health, self esteem, ability to manage conflict, and the ability to learn.

The fostering of these individual, social, and environmental qualities, and the avoidance of the converse, are the objectives of mental health promotion. In each nation or community, local opinion about the main problems and potential gains, and the evidence about the social and personal determinants of mental health will shape the activities of mental health promotion. As noted earlier, health promotion and prevention are necessarily related and overlapping activities: the former is concerned with the determinants of health and the latter focuses on the causes of disease. The evidence for prevention of mental disorders (Hosman & Jané-Llopis in press) contributes to the evidence base for the promotion of mental health. Beyond that, however, the evidence for effectiveness of mental health promotion is being extended through evaluation of experience in various ways and in different countries and settings. This provides growing confidence in developing interventions, even while the principle of prudence (see p. 18) recognizes that we can never know enough to act with certainty.

The activities of mental health promotion are mainly sociopolitical: reducing unemployment, improving schooling and housing, working to reduce stigma and discrimination of various types, and specific policy initiatives such as wearing seat belts to avoid head injury. The key agents are politicians, educators, and members of nongovernment organizations. The job of mental health professionals is to remind them of the evidence for the importance of these key variables (Goldberg 1998). Health practitioners may be more directly involved in prevention of illness, devising and applying programmes in primary health care and other settings, and in health policy.

A combined approach to health promotion and prevention of illness (Mrazek & Haggerty 1994; Eaton & Harrison 1996) categorizes interventions according to the levels of risk of illness (or scope for improving health) in various population groups, and makes it clearer what type of collective action is required: *universal* (directed to the whole population, e.g. good prenatal care), *selected* 

(targeted to subgroups of the population with risks significantly above average, e.g. family support for young, poor, first pregnancy mothers) or *indicated* (targeted at high-risk individuals with minimal but detectable symptoms, e.g. screening and early treatment for symptoms of depression and dementia). The approach to gathering evidence is influenced by recognising that (1) the evidence for direct causal pathways is generally strongest for the most immediate influences on health or disease; (2) most health states have multiple causes interacting over time (Desjarlais et al. 1995); and (3) important factors such as family environment or child abuse and neglect will influence the level of physical and mental health as well as the risk for several types of illness in later life. Other life events and circumstances will interact favourably or unfavourably to contribute to health and resilience or the development of illness.

Mental health promotion has been seen to ask for peace, social justice, decent housing, education, and employment. The call for intersectoral action has sometimes been diffuse (Kreitman 1990). Specific evidence-based proposals with measurable outcomes are required. However, asking individual health promotion projects to demonstrate long-term changes in ill-health, productivity, or quality of life is often unrealistic and unnecessary. What is required instead is a marshalling of the evidence linking mental health with its critical determinants (aetiological research), and programme design and evaluation to demonstrate changes in the same determining or mediating variables. Programmes and policies can aspire, in other words, to produce changes in indicators of economic participation, levels of discrimination, or social connectedness. Identifying and documenting the mental health benefits of these changes, and developing indicators of these determinants, are complementary areas of work needing further support. An evidence base for mental health promotion does exist but it needs boosting with aetiological research and programme and policy evaluation.

This Part of the Summary Report moves on to consider the nature, collection, assessment, and use of the evidence for mental health promotion in various settings and population groups, and by various means. It concludes by considering the way forward in generating further evidence.

## **Evidence and its use in mental health promotion**

## Linking research with practice and policy

Important advances in establishing a sound evidence base for mental health promotion have occurred in recent years. Consensus exists on clusters of known risk and protective factors for mental health and there is evidence that interventions can reduce identified risk factors and enhance known protective factors (Mrazek & Haggerty 1994). The International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE) report for the European Commission endorses that mental health promotion programmes work and that there are a number of evidence-based programmes to inform mental health promotion practice (IUHPE 2000). The accumulating evidence demonstrates the feasibility of implementing effective mental health promotion programmes across a range of diverse population groups and settings (see Hosman & Jané-Llopis in press).

An important challenge is to strengthen the evidence base in order to inform practice and policy globally. While researchers are more likely to be concerned with the quality of the evidence, its methodological rigour, and its contribution to knowledge, different stakeholders in the area may bring other perspectives to bear on the types of evidence needed. As described by Nutbeam

(2000), policy-makers are likely to be concerned with the need to justify the allocation of resources and demonstrate added-value, practitioners need to have confidence in the likely success of implementing interventions, and the people who are to benefit need to see that both the programme and the process of implementation are participatory and relevant to their needs. Another major task is to promote the application of existing evidence into good practice on the ground, particularly in disadvantaged and low-income countries and settings. This entails identifying programmes that are effective, feasible, and sustainable across diverse cultural contexts and settings. The challenge is therefore twofold: translating research evidence into effective practice and translating effective practice into research so that currently undocumented evidence may make its way into the published literature.

## Shifting to positive mental health

Mental health promotion reconceptualizes mental health in positive rather than in negative terms. This shift in focus to positive indicators of well-being calls for methodological refinement in establishing positive indicators of mental health outcomes. This shift also calls for a focus on research methods that will document the process, as well as the outcomes, of enabling positive mental health and identify the necessary conditions for successful implementation.

## **Identifying effective programme implementation**

The systematic study of programme implementation has been relatively neglected. The challenge has been identified as using evaluation methods and approaches that are congruent with the principles of mental health promotion practice (Labonté & Robertson 1996), which cross methodological boundaries, and which evaluate initiatives in terms of their process as well as their outcomes (WHO 1998b). The notion that there is a hierarchy of evidence, particularly one that focuses almost exclusively on evaluation outcomes from expensive randomized controlled trials (RCTs), restricts the current body of evidence to that research conducted mainly in high-income countries. A continuum of approaches is needed ranging from RCTs to more qualitative processoriented methods such as the use of case studies, narrative analyses correlational studies, interviews, surveys, and ethnographic studies (McQueen & Anderson 2001).

Implementation research is critical to the understanding of how and under what conditions programmes may be effective. Collections of this kind of data will contribute to advancing knowledge on best practice in real settings.

## Applying the evidence to low-income countries

The evidence debate needs to extend beyond a concern with the quality of research design to focus more directly on the quality of the interventions and their wider practice and policy implications. Currently the evidence debate has taken place in the English language literature within a Euro–American context: "evidence is least available from areas that have the maximum need, that is developing countries and areas affected by conflicts" (WHO 2002, p. 27).

The development of user-friendly information systems and databases is required in order to make the evidence accessible to practitioners and policy-makers. In particular, there is an urgent need to identify effective programmes that are transferable and sustainable in settings such as schools and communities. In this respect, it may be useful to explore the application of programmes based on community development and empowerment methods, such as the community mothers pro-

gramme (Johnson et al. 1993, 2000) and the widow-to-widow peer support programme (Silverman 1988). These programmes, among others, have been shown to be highly effective, low-cost, replicable programmes successfully implemented and sustained by nonprofessional community members in disadvantaged community settings. The implementation of school-based programmes for young people also appears to be a key area for development in low-income countries.

In the absence of large resources, the challenge in many countries is to document innovative forms of practice and to bring them to the attention of others. Documentation, even newsletters and brochures, may be lacking. A lack of documentary evidence does not mean that there is not good practice, however. Dissemination research to examine how existing evidence can be applied across diverse cultural settings is necessary.

International cooperation is necessary to assist low-income countries by means of technical support in publishing guidelines for effective implementation of low-cost, sustainable programmes. The ultimate test of the evidence base is how it can be used effectively to inform practice and policy globally that will reduce inequalities and bring about improved mental health for individuals, families, and communities in most need.

## Social determinants of mental health

The socioeconomic determinants of health have been well studied. In brief, people who are more socially isolated and people who are disadvantaged have poorer health than others (House, Landis & Umberson 1988). More socially cohesive societies are healthier, with lower mortality (Kawachi & Kennedy 1997). Many studies have shown the powerful health associations of social connectedness (Putnam 2001). The evidence on the personal, social, and environmental factors associated with mental health and mental illness has been reviewed by a number of authors (e.g. HEA 1997; Lahtinen et al. 1999; Wilkinson & Marmot 1998; Eaton & Harrison 1998; Hosman & Llopis 2004; Patel & Kleinman 2003).

Concurrent with 20th century advances in learning from the brain sciences and neuroscience, there has been an evolution of ideas about the social determinants of mental health and mental disorders. At the beginning of the 21st century, we have returned to a position of widespread enthusiasm about our genetic endowment and the social shaping of its expression. At present, the predominant motif is not from eugenics as practiced at the population level via the now-rejected modes of ethnic cleansing and selective sterilization. Instead, a prevailing motif is that gene expression can be shaped by exogenous agents and may be shaped by social experience.

It will be important for the lay public and for societal leaders to grasp these ideas as they emerge and are developed during the 21st century. Choices about the societal response depend in part upon our capacities to predict the occurrence of harm or benefit and in part upon our benefit—risk analysis with respect to deployment of resources. In this context, the accuracy of our predictions is disclosed in the evidence and is more or less objective, but the benefit—risk evaluation and the choice of interventions depend upon an expression of shared consensus about values.

An immediate challenge for society's leaders is to create or refine the social structures and processes we use to evaluate the available evidence and to mobilize resources to promote mental health (Jenkins 2001). New discoveries and increasingly definitive evidence about the determinants of mental health are of limited value unless there are social structures and processes to put the new discoveries and evidence into action.

As the 20th century ended, there was an increasingly acidic critique of "risk factor epidemiology", by which is meant a selectively narrow research focus on individual-level characteristics and behaviours that signal increased risk of mental disorders or general medical conditions (e.g. Susser & Susser 1996). At the same time, considerable pessimism developed about how little was gained when prevention programmes were focused upon individual-level behavioural change (e.g. Syme 2003). Indeed, this type of critique was not new. Earlier critics such as Claus Bahne Bahnson pleaded for more research using designs that avoid old controversies about the greater or lesser significance of biological or sociological or other factors but rather integrate these several levels in a larger matrix expressing the whole process. To the extent that disturbances in mental health such as suicide-related behaviour may be regarded on one level at least as a social phenomenon, the critique is more than a century old.

There is still much to be learned from public health research across disciplines, as well as the experimental paradigms of laboratory research on nonhuman primates (see box).

## Learning from laboratory research on nonhuman primates

An especially intriguing line of primate research has developed from Professor Harry Harlow's early experiments on separation of primate infants from their mothers. This research helped to sharpen our focus of human research and to clarify how mother-infant separation can be a social determinant of poor mental health in the human condition. In brief, there is evidence of gene–environment interactions in relation to overly aggressive behaviour of vulnerable male primate offspring and what ordinarily is heavier alcoholic beverage consumption by these individuals.

The research showed that male primate offspring show exacerbations of aggressive behaviour and drinking behaviour when they are assigned to conditions involving early disengagement and separation from the maternal environment and subsequent rearing solely with other maternally-separated peers. Interestingly, there was even more aggressive behaviour and more alcohol consumption observed among males with a genetic mutation involving the serotonin transporter. When the male offspring were kept with their mothers in the maternal-rearing environment, however, there were neither aggression nor drinking differences in association with the serotonin transporter. That is, the insalubrious activity of the serotonin transporter mutation was apparent only under the peer-rearing condition and not under the maternal-rearing condition (Suomi 2002).

Primate experiments of this type cannot be readily replicated with humans. Nonetheless, "experiments of nature" sometimes create circumstances in which infants are separated from their families prematurely, with subsequent group housing (e.g. as observed in areas where the deaths of many parents with HIV/AIDS have led to creation of large orphanages). In addition, in many urban areas around the globe, youths leave their home environments, become street children, and enter peer group contexts that necessarily evoke social rank hierarchies. These recent findings from the primate laboratories point towards social determinants of positive mental health that might become disrupted under these conditions, and make these orphanage and peer group settings an especially fruitful context for intervention and research.

## Links between physical health and mental health

Positive mental health is a set of key domains encompassing well-being and positive states of mind. It can influence onset, course, and outcomes of both physical and mental illnesses. For example, research has shown links between depression and anxiety and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases (Kuper, Marmot & Hemingway 2002; Carson et al. 2002). The role of mental disorders in increasing vulnerability to physical morbidity and poorer outcomes is well documented. Psychological beliefs such as optimism, personal control, and a sense of meaning are known to be protective of mental health as well as physical health. Even unrealistically optimistic beliefs about the future may be health-protective for men infected with HIV. Similarly, physical health is a positive attribute influencing both mental and physical illnesses and their outcomes. These interrelationships are encompassed in holistic concepts of health.

The results of a recently released New York City Community Health Survey (a telephone survey of 10 000 New Yorkers, with representation from 33 communities) reveals that poor general health is three times more common among people who report significant emotional distress. The latter experience high rates of many chronic conditions that put them at risk for early death, including high cholesterol, high blood pressure, obesity, asthma, and diabetes. They often engage in behaviours that lead to increased risk for health problems, including sedentary habits, binge drinking, smoking, and eating a poor diet (New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene 2003).

In studies on the health of elderly people, the interrelationship between physical and mental health also becomes evident. For example, findings on daily living practice among Thai elderly suggest the importance to their physical and mental health of good food habits, regular exercise, seeking knowledge about health, religious activity involvement, good relationships with others, and well-planned management of income and expenses resulting in life satisfaction (Othaganont, Sinthuvorakan & Jensupakarn 2002).

Holistic concepts of health are basic to many indigenous beliefs on the nature of health and well-being. This is illustrated by the definition of health accepted by Australia's ancient indigenous culture. The National Aboriginal Health Strategy Working Party (1989) defines health as:

... not just the physical health well-being of the individual but the social, emotional, and cultural well-being of the whole community. This is a whole-of-life view and it also includes the cyclical concept of life-death-life.

This definition encompasses mental health, which has been defined as social and emotional well-being, and spiritual, environmental (such as land and place), physical, social (including community and culture), and emotional factors. These are seen as interacting with each other in complex ways.

Such interactions are hypothesized to occur through psychological and psychophysiological mechanisms. More recently, the influence of specific psychiatric disorders in contributing to adverse cardiac disease trajectories and death has been established (Bunker et al. 2003).

Thus, there is a body of evidence highlighting the value of an holistic approach to health in terms of mental health and physical health and illness. The natural consequence of such correlations is that promoting positive mental health may be seen as significant in terms of health globally and both physical and mental disorders.

## Mental health, mental illness, and concepts of recovery

Realising that mental health is more than the absence of illness can be helpful to people with mental illnesses and their carers. Protective health resources and positive health can coexist with sometimes severe psychopathological symptoms, for instance in a person living with schizophrenia. This suggests the value of developing more comprehensive clinical approaches with an additional focus on the person's positive health, strengths, capabilities, and personal efforts towards recovery in prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation. The recovery model empowers consumers and those involved with them with its emphasis on strengths and a positive future orientation. Assessing and building on strengths helps people to "live well" with mental or other illness and avoid being further diminished by it (Schmolke 2003).

## **Developing indicators of mental health**

A considerable body of practice informs the development and use of population indicators in mental health and mental health promotion: epidemiological studies of mental health, crossnational studies of quality of life, findings regarding the relationship between social determinants and inequalities and health and mental health outcomes, psychometric studies, and observations from health surveillance and monitoring.

In proposing mental health indicators, the different perspectives of health promotion practitioners and mental health practitioners need to be appreciated, although these are not antithetical. Thus, either through a focus on populations or a focus on individuals, both acknowledge that positive mental health is set within a larger sociopolitical, economic, and cultural environment which in turn influences the distribution of material and social resources through a variety of institutional and individual mechanisms. Ultimately, individual biology and genes are conditioned by and interact with these environments. As a consequence, indicators of positive mental health will of necessity reflect differing levels of influence.

Emerging frameworks or conceptual models of positive mental health, while at an early stage, already acknowledge the need to specify a range of indicators at differing levels of developmental influence on mental health (Korkeila 2000; Lahtinen et al. 1999; National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health (STAKES) and European Commission 2000; Stephens, Dulberg & Joubert 1999). These influences entail multisectoral interests (e.g. health, welfare, education, justice). They also include *macro-level measures* of cultural, social, and political-economic structural processes; *distal measures* of the social organization and behaviour of communities, schools, local neighbourhoods, and workplaces; *proximal measures* of the demographic, material, and social circumstances and behaviours of families and peers; and *direct measures* of the psychological, biological, social, material, and demographic characteristics of individuals. Clearly, developing a framework to capture all or even some of this is an extensive undertaking. Some efforts in this regard have been made, however.

Broad-based macro-level determinants of mental health are measured by, for example, the Human Development Index (HDI) which was reviewed in 2000 by the UN. The HDI was developed as a measure of achievement and focuses attention on human outcomes as well as the economic performance of a country. The Gender-related Development Index (GDI) and Gender Empowerment Index (GEI) are other examples of macro-level national indicators. They are relevant in characterizing some aspects of basic human development, giving measures of mental health an appropriate context.

There are also several measures that attempt to rate the overall level of mental health distress in individuals or document specific behaviour, such as suicide. For example, the Kessler-10 (K10) is a self-report questionnaire that yields a measure of psychological distress; the SF-36 is an interviewer-rated indicator of mental health distress.

## Are rates of suicide, self-inflicted injury, and suicidal ideation useful as indicators of mental health distress?

Suicide is taken sine qua non as an indicator of psychological distress by lay and professional people alike. Suicide rates are commonly used or recommended as an indicator of a cause-specific mortality linked to psychological state and psychiatric illness. However, as an indicator there are several features that make it problematic. The definition, variability, and rarity of the event in population terms, the nature of its reporting, and the complexity of its causal pathways make suicide rates a poor indicator of population mental health distress.

Rates of suicide mortality conceal the more prevalent and potentially more modifiable morbidity of *self-inflicted injury*. Self-inflicted injury is less subjective than the term deliberate self-harm. Because of the greater prevalence of self-inflicted injury and its links to many common determinants of psychological distress, such as substance abuse, depression, and violence, as well as its association with subsequent suicide, the monitoring of population rates of intentional injury may provide a useful proxy of mental health distress.

Questions about *suicidal ideation* offer another means of directly probing psychological distress. However, a consistent measure of suicidal ideation needs to be applied in population studies over time to assess the responsiveness and value of such a measure.

Studies of suicide that examine circumstances and contexts also identify local and setting-specific motivations and triggers of suicidal behaviour (Mitchell Weiss, personal communication). In that regard, study of suicidal behaviour may identify setting-specific mental health problems complementary to the subset of mental heath problems that fulfil criteria for psychiatric disorders and which are more frequently called upon to explain suicidality. Because suicide is so clearly a mental health problem, the contexts of suicide are matters of special interest to mental health professionals and they are particularly useful as a guide to planning for community mental health across cultures.

Information collected on individuals includes demographic determinants, exposure to stressful life events, level of social support, and quality of life. *Demographic determinants*, such as age, sex, level of education, income, and current employment, are essential to characterize populations and to provide a descriptive context for implementation of mental health promotion. *Stressful life events* are associated with poor mental health (Brown & Harris 1989) and extensively studied in the social sciences (Wethington, Brown & Kessler 1995). *Social support* is often conceptualized as an environmental variable; however, research shows that it is influenced by genetic factors (Kendler 1997), correlated with personality, and relatively stable over time (Sarason, Sarason & Shearin 1986). Importantly, social support is not latent within the environment but rather is reciprocally maintained through the actions of individuals. Its association with health and, more particularly, positive mental health has been documented in longitudinal work (Cederblad et al. 1995). Social support covers three domains: the extent to which individuals are attached to others, the individuals's cognitive appraisal of the support, and the response of others in the provision of

support. A number of measurement devices (Korkeila 2000) have emerged from its long history of interest in the social sciences. Examples are the 27-item Social Support Questionnaire and the Medical Outcomes Study Social Support Survey (MOS\_SSS). *Quality of life* measures not only measure mental health but also usually contain items and domains that directly probe aspects of mental health.

## **Evidence of effective interventions**

Evidence exists for the effectiveness of a wide range of exemplary mental health promotion programmes and policies. Their outcomes show that mental health promotion is a realistic option within a public health approach across the lifespan and across settings such as perinatal care, schools, work, and local communities. In many fields of life, well-designed interventions can contribute to better mental health and well-being of the population. Over the last two decades, numerous studies in mental health promotion and mental disorder prevention have proven that such programmes can be effective and lead to improved mental health, health, social, and economic development (Albee & Gulotta 1997; Durlak 1995; Price et al. 1992; Price et al. 1988; Hosman & Llopis 1999; Hosman, Llopis & Saxena 2004; Mrazek & Haggerty 1994). Topic-specific literature overviews have confirmed that programmes can be effective to improve behaviours such as child abuse (Hoefnagels 2004; MacMillan et al. 1994a, 1994b), conduct problems (Reid et al. 1999), violence and aggression (Yoshikawa 1994), and substance use (Gilvarry 2000; Anderson et al. 1999), and in different settings, including schools (Greenberg et al. 2001) and workplaces (Price & Kompier 2004). Similarly, meta-analyses have been undertaken to assess programme efficacy in the fields of harmful drug use for children and adolescents (Tobler 1992; Tobler et al. 1999; Tobler et al. 1997), mental health for children (Durlak et al. 1997; Durlak & Wells 1998), interventions for infants and children up to six years of age (Brown et al. 2000), prevention of child sexual abuse (Davis & Gidycz 2000) and prevention of depression (Jané-Llopis, Hosman & Jenkins 2003).

The following review of the best examples of effective mental health promotion is based primarily on evidence from controlled trials, including quasi-experimental studies, and studies using a time series design. Where relevant, evidence is taken also from observational and qualitative studies. This counts especially for the evidence from interventions in low-income countries where resources are lacking for expensive controlled studies. The programmes and policies illustrate the wide variety of strategies to promote mental health in the population across different system levels and stages of the lifespan. A brief description of a selection of these policies and programmes is presented here; more detail and a wider range of examples is found in the full Report. For an extensive overview of evidence-based programmes to prevent mental illnesses and to reduce the risk of mental ill-health, we refer to a separate volume (Hosman, Llopis & Saxena 2004).

## Macro interventions with mental health impact: creating supportive environments and implementing public policy

## **Improving nutrition**

There is strong evidence that improving nutrition and development in socioeconomically disadvantaged children can lead to healthy cognitive development and improved educational outcomes, especially for those living in impoverished communities. The most effective intervention models are potentially those which combine nutritional interventions (such as food supplementation) with counselling on psychosocial care (e.g. warmth, attentive listening)(WHO 1999). These

have also been suggested to be cost-effective (WHO 2002). In addition, iodine plays a key role in preventing mental and physical retardation and impairment in learning ability (WHO 2002). Iodine supplementation programmes ensure that children obtain adequate levels of iodine. Global efforts such as those supported by UNICEF have led to 70% of the world's households using iodized salt, which protects 91 million newborns from iodine deficiency (UNICEF 2002 report) and indirectly to preventing related mental and physical health problems.

## **Improving housing**

Poor housing has been used as an indicator of poverty and as a target to improve public health and reduce inequalities in health. A recent systematic review on the health effects of housing improvement (Thomson, Petticrew & Morrison 2001) suggests a promising impact on health and mental health outcomes, such as improvements in self-reported physical and mental health, perceptions of safety and crime reduction, and social and community participation (see also p. 46).

## Improving access to education

Low literacy is a major social problem in many countries, particularly in south Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. Illiteracy and low education tend to be more common in women. Lack of education severely limits the ability of individuals to access economic entitlements. While there are impressive gains in improving literacy levels in most countries through better education for children, there is much less effort directed to today's adults without literacy skills. Ethnographic research in India suggests programmes aimed at improving literacy, in particular for adults, have tangible benefits in promoting mental health (Cohen 2002). The positive mental health impact was mediated through a number of pathways, including acquisition of numeracy skills which reduced the risk of being cheated, greater confidence in expressing one's rights, and a reduction of barriers to access opportunities.

Evidence also indicates the success of initiatives using subsidies to close gender gaps in education (World Bank 2000). For example, in the first evaluation of a school stipend established in Bangladesh in 1982, enrolment of girls in secondary school rose from 27% to 44% over five years, more than twice the national average (Bellew & King 1993). Evaluation studies in Pakistan have illustrated that improved physical access to school, subsidized costs, and culturally appropriate design can sharply increase girls' enrolments in education (World Bank 2000). Better education increases female cognitive-emotional and intellectual competencies and job prospects, and might reduce social inequity and risks of certain mental disorders such as depression.

## Strengthening community networks

Community interventions have focused on developing empowering processes and building a sense of ownership and social responsibility within community members. An example of a community intervention is the Communities that Care (CTC) Programme (Hawkins et al. 2002) which has been implemented successfully across several hundred communities in the USA and is currently being adopted and replicated in the Netherlands, England, Scotland, Wales, and Australia. The CTC is a field-tested strategy for activating communities to implement community violence and aggression prevention systems (Hawkins et al. 2002). The strategy helps communities use local data to develop actions that occur simultaneously at multiple levels: community (e.g. mobilization, media, policy change), school (changing school management structures or teaching practices), family (e.g. parent training strategies) and individual (e.g. social competence promotion strategies) (Hawkins et al. 1997). The CTC strategy supports communities in selecting and implementing existing evidence-based programmes that fit the risk profile of their community. To date this operating

system has only been evaluated in the USA with pre–post designs and comparisons with baseline data involving about 40 communities in each field test. Outcomes have indicated improvements in youth behavioural outcomes, parental skills, and family and community relations, and decreases in school problems, weapons charges, burglary, drug offences, and assault charges.

#### **Reducing misuse of addictive substances**

A strong evidence base indicates the negative impact of alcohol, tobacco, and drug use during pregnancy. These effects include an increased likelihood of premature deliveries, low birth weight, restricted long-term neurological and cognitive-emotional development of children (e.g. lower intelligence, temperament, ADHD, conduct problems, poorer school achievements), and perinatal mortality (e.g. Brown & Sturgeon 2004; Tuthill et al. 1999). Being born prematurely and low birth weight are in themselves known risk factors for adverse mental health outcomes and psychiatric disorders (Elgen, Sommerfelt & Markestad 2002). In general, substance abuse by the mother is associated with the offspring becoming dependent on substances during adolescence and young adulthood (Allen et al. 1998). Educational programmes to stimulate pregnant women to abstain from or reduce substance use can therefore have long-term mental health benefits.

#### **Intervening after disasters**

Psychological and social interventions during the reconsolidation phase after disasters have been recommended to improve the mental health of the affected populations and to prevent psychopathology (WHO 2003b). These interventions include availability of community volunteers, provision of nonintrusive emotional support, psychoeducation, and encouraging pre-existing positive ways of coping.

#### **Preventing violence**

Community-based efforts to prevent violence include public education campaigns, improved urban infrastructure, and community policing (WHO 2002a). These efforts not only prevent violence, but also have effects on mental health and well-being of the affected population.

#### Meso and micro interventions for mental health promotion

#### The early stages of life

During the early stages of life there is more development in mental, social, and physical functioning than in any other period across the lifespan. What happens from birth to age three influences how the rest of childhood and adolescence unfolds (UNICEF 2002). A healthy start in life greatly enhances the child's later functioning in school, with peers, in intimate relations, and with broader connections with society. The major dimensions of a healthy start to life are physical and psychological well-being, including freedom from poverty, violence, armed conflict, HIV-AIDS in the family (UNICEF 2002), physical disease, infirmities, injuries, abuse, neglect, exposure to drugs prior to birth, malnutrition, and reduced chances for healthy attachment to the mother. The start of life in turn influences the likelihood of later behavioural problems, including opposition-defiance, aggression and conduct problems; shy withdrawn behaviour; attention deficit and hyperactivity; and readiness for school, including verbal, language, and social skills.

Policies attempting to target the well-being of families, such as policies to alleviate economic hardship, family-friendly policies at the workplace, or access to child care, can lead to overall mental and physical health improvements in children and future adults

#### A mental health promotion case-study: home visiting

Evidence from home-visiting interventions during pregnancy has shown health, social, and economic outcomes of great public health significance, including the improvement of mental health outcomes both for the mothers and, in the long-term, for the newborns. An effective example is the Prenatal and Infancy Home-visiting Programme (Olds 1998; Olds 2002), a 25-year programme of research that has attempted to improve the early health and development of low-income mothers and children and their future life trajectories with prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses.

The programme has been tested in two separate large-scale randomized controlled trials with different populations living in different contexts. It has been successful in improving parental care of the child as reflected in fewer injuries and ingestions that may be associated with child abuse and neglect; and maternal life-course, reflected in fewer subsequent pregnancies, greater work force participation, and reduced use of public assistance. In the first trial, the programme also produced long-term effects on the number of arrests, convictions, emergent substance use, and promiscuous sexual activity of 15-year-old children whose nurse-visited mothers were low-income and unmarried when they registered in the study during pregnancy. Families were better off financially, and reduction in the government's costs for such families more than compensated for the programme's cost.

This intervention has been replicated in two other communities within the USA with comparable success, although important adaptations have been made to address the relevant risk and protective factors. Recently, the programme has also been adopted in some European countries.

In disseminating, adopting, and implementing such home visiting interventions it should be kept in mind that some programmes with nurses and social workers were not found effective (Villar 1992). This stresses the need to identify what the active ingredients are in the effective programmes. This knowledge can be translated in guidelines for developing future home visiting programmes.

#### Pre-school educational and psychosocial interventions

There are many community programmes for families with young children, such as family reading programmes in libraries, health screening clinics, organized recreation, and television programmes that teach elementary reading skills and socioemotional values.

In the USA, the Perry Preschool Project demonstrated very long-term effects from a half-day preschool intervention combined with weekly home visits. Children in the intervention, who were African-American and came from impoverished backgrounds, had improved cognitive development, better achievement and school completion, and fewer conduct problems and arrests. Significant benefit was found at age 19 and age 27 on lifetime arrests (40% reduction) and repeated arrests (a 7-fold reduction) (Schweinhart & Weikart 1997).

Speech and language skills of children born in impoverished families or families from minorities can often develop more slowly than those of other children. There is strong evidence that early interventions starting at age two that promote basic reading skills and engage children in conver-

sations with their parents about picture books improve reading skills and facilitate the transition to school (Valdez-Menchaca & Whitehurst 1992).

Questions have been raised regarding whether home-based interventions and parenting approaches are an effective use of resources. The few cost-effective evaluations undertaken in this area seem promising (Olds 1997). Moreover, interventions having a simultaneous impact on the physical and mental health of parents and their babies might prolong their impact throughout children's lives and between generations.

#### Reducing violence and improving emotional well-being in the school setting

Many countries are committed to universal systems of primary education. Although this is not the case in all developing countries, the number of youth attending school is increasing. In addition to their central role of fostering academic development, schools serve an important role in the health and social-emotional development of students (WHO 1997; Elias et al. 1997; Weare 2000). Despite variation in the amount of time that children spend in school, they are the primary institution for socialization in many societies. For this reason, and because of the convenience of conducting interventions in a setting where young people spend much of their time, schools have become one of the most important settings for interventions for children and youth.

To function effectively, children need social and emotional competencies. They also need the confidence to use those skills constructively and opportunities to practise their skills in order to help develop a sense of identity. This process is often called "social and emotional learning" (Elias et al. 1997). The website of the Collaborative for Academic, Social and Emotional Learning (CASEL –www.casel.org/index) offers a rich source of evidence-based programmes to enhance social-emotional learning, as well as materials that can be downloaded to support the implementation of such programmes across communities, countries and regions.

#### Effective school-based interventions for mental health

There is ample empirical evidence that providing universal programmes to groups of students can influence positive mental health outcomes. Several types of interventions in schools can be identified as achieving improved competence and self-worth, as well as decreasing emotional and behavioural problems (Kellam 1994; Domitrovich et al. 2004; Patton et al. 2003; Greenberg et al. 2001). While some interventions target the school in an integrated approach, others target only one part of the school system (e.g. children in a given grade) or a specific group of students that are identified to be at risk for emotional or behavioural problems.

Generally, universal school based programmes have focused on a range of generic risk factors and mental health problems, such as academic failure, aggression, and bullying, and have demonstrated increased individual competence and resilience as well as reductions in depressive symptoms (Felner et al. 1993; Kellam et al. 1994; Greenberg & Kusche 1998).

As students get older and are faced with new challenges, such as peer pressure to engage in delinquent behaviour or substance use, social-emotional skills become particularly important to maintaining health and positive development. School based skill-building programmes that are geared for middle and high school students often serve as both mental health promotion and substance abuse prevention programmes, particularly when problem-solving is geared towards addressing these issues. The Positive Youth Development Programme (PYD) is an example of a school-based programme focusing on this type of student skill building (Caplan et al. 1992). The curriculum promotes general social competence and refusal skills related to alcohol and drug

use, and is found to produce significant improvements in students' skills and in teacher reports of social adjustment.

#### Changing school ecology

A positive psychosocial environment at school ("child-friendly schools") can positively affect the mental health and well-being of young people (WHO 2003c). The components of positive psychosocial environment at school include providing a friendly, rewarding, and supportive atmosphere; supporting cooperation and active learning; and forbidding physical punishment and violence.

#### **Multicomponent programmes**

Programmes that focus simultaneously on different levels, such as changing the school ecology as well as improving individual skills, are more effective than those that intervene on solely one level. Examples of effective multicomponent programmes include the Linking the Interests of Families and Teachers (LIFT) programme, which demonstrated reductions in student aggression, particularly for those most at risk (Reid et al. 1999); and the developmentally sequenced Seattle Social Development Project (Hawkins et al. 1992), which addresses multiple risk and protective factors across the individual, the school, and the family over a six-year intervention, leading to significantly stronger attachment to school, improvement in self-reported achievement, and less school misbehaviour (Hawkins, Von Cleve & Catalano 1991).

#### The adult population

#### Reducing the strain of unemployment

Retrenchment and job loss can cause serious mental health problems. In a sample of USA mothers living in poverty, not working and receiving welfare was associated with negative cognitive and behavioural outcomes for children, lower maternal mental health, less social support, and more avoidant coping strategies (Brooks-Gunn et al. 2001). It has been recommended that work reforms should be developed and implemented with the goal of moving poor women out of low-wage work and into work that allows them to become economically self-sufficient over the long-term. Priorities include the provision of a living wage, post-secondary education, and job training (O'Campo 1998). Similarly, counselling or job search training for low-income unemployed groups can be an effective strategy to enhance coping with unemployment and to reduce the negative outcomes of unemployment for mental health. The JOBS Programme (Caplan et al. 1989; Caplan et al. 1997), for example, has been shown to have positive effects on rates of re-employment, the quality and pay of jobs obtained, and job search self-efficacy and mastery, as well as reduce depression and distress. The JOBS Programme has been successfully disseminated internationally in the People's Republic of China, Finland, and the USA (Price et al. 1998), and is currently being implemented in Ireland.

#### Stress prevention programmes at the workplace

There is evidence that work characteristics may cause or contribute to mental health problems (e.g. burnout, anxiety disorders, depression, sleeplessness), gastrointestinal disorders, cardiovascular illness, and musculoskeletal disease, and produces social and economic burden to health and human services (Price & Kompier 2004). Interventions to reduce work stress may be directed either at the coping capacity of employees or at the working environment. Stress management training, stress inoculation techniques, relaxation methods, and social skills and fitness training can increase coping capacity. Several meta-studies show that such methods are effective in preventing adverse mental health outcomes in work environments (Murphy 1996; Van der Klink et al. 2001). Interventions to reduce stressors in the work environment include task and technical inter-

ventions (e.g. job enrichment, ergonomic improvements, reduction of noise); interventions targeted at improving role clarity, conflict management, and social relationships; and interventions that combine work-directed and person-directed interventions. These social interventions may cause – but do not guarantee – positive effects (Semmer 2003).

#### Improving the mental health of the elderly

In the year 2000 more than 600 million people were aged over 60 in the world. This figure is expected to increase by 70% in the next 20 years. This rapid increase in the ageing population brings an increase of age-related physical and mental health problems, including an increased risk of dementia (Levkov et al 1995) and age-related chronic diseases, and decreases in general mental well-being and quality of life. Different types of universal interventions have been successful in improving the mental health of elder populations. Successful interventions include social support and community empowerment interventions and interventions promoting healthy lifestyle (Jané-Llopis, Hosman & Copeland 2004). Such programmes include exercise interventions, providing hearing aids, and a befriending programme (see box).

#### Mental health promotion case studies: the elderly

#### **Befriending**

During the last two decades, various studies have found evidence for the significance of friendship for the well-being of older people, especially for older women (e.g. Armstrong & Goldsteen 1990). Friendships can have multiple functions, such as providing companionship and pleasure, and support in situations that are problematical and stressful, and the sustainment of identity and meaning. "Befriending" is a widely used strategy to increase social support and to reduce loneliness and depression among the elderly. One befriending programme for older women, consisting of 12 group sessions and based on theories of social support, friendship, and self help, found significant reductions in loneliness (Stevens & van Tilburg 2000).

#### **Providing hearing aids**

An intervention set in primary care clinics assessed whether hearing aids would improve the quality of life of elderly people with hearing loss (Mulrow et al. 1990). Evaluation found significant improvements for those who received a hearing aid in social and emotional function, communication, cognition, and depression compared with those who did not.

#### Moving forward in all countries and settings

Policy-makers, service providers, local authorities, and practitioners need to take full advantage of the interventions that have been developed, implemented, and tested elsewhere. However, retrieving relevant scientific knowledge from the fast-growing number of publications on evidence-based interventions is time-consuming. Especially in low-income countries, access to scientific journals and books is a serious problem. Several organizations have developed or are currently developing internationally accessible databases on evidence-based prevention and health promotion programmes, including those targeting mental health issues. Examples of such databases are those provided by the USA Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the Cochrane library, CASEL, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), and the Implementing Mental Health Promotion Action (IMHPA) database developed by the Nijmegen Prevention Research Center in relation with the European Union (EU) and WHO.

The emerging evidence is limited, however, in that it is often based on only one or two well-designed outcome studies mostly performed in affluent countries. Recently a new generation of studies has emerged aiming to compare outcomes of a programme or policy across countries or cultures. Our knowledge on the robustness of findings across sites and their sensitivity to cultural and economic circumstances is still meagre. This is a serious problem in the context of the many recent efforts to disseminate "best practices" or "model programmes" across communities, countries, and regions. We need to be cautious in assuming that a programme that may work in one place will work again when implemented in different communities under different circumstances. Initiatives to disseminate effective or promising practices and to stimulate their adoption and implementation elsewhere should be combined with efforts to perform new outcome studies and to develop a supportive research policy.

The development of the evidence base for mental health promotion as a whole as well as for individual programmes is an incremental affair. It is not realistic to expect that every country, province, or district has the political will and the means to perform a range of controlled-outcome studies for each intervention they implement. Especially in low-income countries, the lack of resources pushes authorities and practitioners to take decisions on opportunities to promote mental health with a minimum of scientific evidence. This stresses the need to study not only the outcomes of programmes but also their working mechanisms, principles, and effect moderators. Such knowledge and its translation into guidelines can support policy-makers, programme designers and practitioners in adapting programmes and policies to local needs, resources, and culture (reinvention), and increase the likelihood that these interventions will be effective. It also underlines the need to use the full spectrum of research methodologies, including less expensive qualitative studies, to build incrementally an evidence base that has validity for the country or community in question.

## Effective mental health promotion in low-income countries

Mental health is inextricably linked with human development, both because the social and economic determinants of human development are strongly associated with mental health and because poor mental health will compromise longevity, general health, and creativity. The factors that influence human development are those that influence mental health and it is likely that a dynamic relationship exists between human development and mental health (Patel 2001).

A central challenge for mental health promotion in settings where infrastructure is poorly developed, human and material resources are scarce, and human rights practices cannot be taken for granted is that many of the social changes necessary for improved mental health are far more wide-reaching than some may immediately consider within the ambit of mental health promotion practice. The programmes discussed here focus on three areas of action: advocacy, empowerment and social support.

#### **Advocacy**

Advocacy aims to generate public demand for mental health and to persuade all stakeholders to place a high value on mental health. Advocacy related to the mental health effects of alcohol abuse is an example.

The Global Burden of Disease study showed that alcohol abuse is a leading cause of social and family disruption, and morbidity and mortality, especially in men in developing countries. There is a growing awareness about the epidemic of alcohol abuse disorders, particularly in Latin America, Eastern Europe and South Asia (Pyne, Claeson & Correia 2002; Patel 1998). In India, the scale of social problems related to alcohol abuse has propelled the problem into a political issue: in recent years, entire elections have been fought, and won, on this issue (Patel 1998).

One community-based approach to combating alcoholism and promoting the mental health of families in rural India began with participatory research to estimate the burden and impact of alcohol abuse in the community (Bang & Bang 1991). The research demonstrated the enormous burden of the problem and identified a number of key prevention and promotion strategies. These included education and awareness building, action against drunken men, advocacy to politicians to limit the sale and distribution of alcohol in bars and shops, and mass oaths for abstinence. The programme was implemented through a community movement led by young people and women and *Daramukti Sangathana* (Liberation from Liquor) village groups. The programme has led to a marked reduction in the number of alcohol outlets in the area and a 60% reduction in alcohol consumption. As a result, there is now more money for food, clothing, and welfare, and a reduction in domestic violence (Bang & Bang 1995).

An unblinded matched community-based trial was conducted in Yunnan, China to investigate the effectiveness of a multifaceted community intervention to prevent drug abuse among youths. The programme, like the one in India, involved multiple sectors and leaders in the community and emphasized community participation and action, education in schools, literacy improvement, and employment opportunities. It led to a significant reduction in the incidence of drug abuse and a marked improvement in knowledge and attitudes towards HIV/AIDS and drug use (Wu et al 2002).

#### **Empowerment**

Empowerment is the process by which groups in a community who have been traditionally disadvantaged in ways that compromise their health can overcome these barriers and can exercise all the rights that are due to them, with a view to leading a full, equal life in the best of health. An example of empowerment programmes that have had a mental health impact is the micro-credit schemes for alleviation of debt.

In many developing countries, indebtedness to loan-sharks and consequent economic uncertainty is a source of great stress and worry. These vulnerabilities arise because of the failure of the formal banking sector to extend short-term loans to the poorest in the community, who often lack the literacy or "credit-worthiness" that are essential for accessing loans. Such uncertainties are compounded for small farmers who rely on seasonal rains for agriculture and face increasing competition from large, transnational companies. The combination of failures of the seasonal monsoon and competition has been identified as a major reason for debt in India, and the associated stress has led to hundreds of suicides in recent years (Sundar 1999).

The economic vulnerability of farmers in developing countries suggests the potential for mental health promotion in revising the process by which local banks assess the credit-worthiness of people who belong to the poorest sectors of society. Radical community banks and loan facilities – such as those run by SEWA in India and the Grameen Bank in Bangladesh – have been involved in setting up loan facilities in areas where they did not exist and making loans to poor people who formerly did not have access to such facilities and services.

Some evidence of the ability of such banks to promote mental health are available. The activities of the Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee (BRAC) span health care provision, education, and rural development programmes. The latter programmes are implemented at the level of individual villages, through Village Organizations (VO) that include the poorest members of each community. The primary activities are raising consciousness and awareness and compulsory savings. Once established, VO members can access credit for income-generating schemes. BRAC has carried out evaluations of a number of its programmes in different settings. Data used for evaluation come from baseline, seasonal, and ethnographic surveys, as well as from demographic surveillance. These data show that BRAC members have better nutritional status, better child survival, higher educational achievement, lower rates of domestic violence, and improved "well-being" and psychological health (Chowdury & Bhuiya 2001).

The empowerment of women and violence prevention in the community are the focus of other programmes and policies that have an influence on health (see box).

#### The empowerment of women and its impact on mental health

Whereas "sex" is a term used to distinguish men and women on the basis of biological characteristics, "gender" refers to the distinguishing features that are socially constructed. Gender is a crucial element in health inequities in developing countries. Gender influences the control men and women have over the determinants of their health, including their economic position, social status, access to resources, and treatment in society. Thus, gender can be seen as a powerful social determinant of health that interacts with other determinants such as age, family structure, income, education, and social support (WHO 2000a). The role of gender in public health in developing countries has been acknowledged and mainstreamed; thus, gender is a core component of major health programmes targeted at child and adolescent health, reproductive health, and primary health care.

The role of gender in explaining the excess morbidity of common mental disorders in women has been demonstrated in a number of studies in developing countries (Broadhead et al. in press; Patel, Rodrigues & De Souza 2002). These studies have shown that the elevated risk for depression is at least partly accounted for by negative attitudes towards women, lack of acknowledgement for their work, fewer opportunities for them in education and employment, and greater risk of domestic violence (WHO 2000a).

Although the link between domestic violence and mental health problems has been firmly established in numerous studies (WHO 2000a; Heise, Ellsberg & Gottemoeller 1999), there have been no systematic evaluations of the mental health impact of violence reduction programmes being implemented in many developing countries. Such programmes work at several levels, including sensitization of health workers so that they are confident and comfortable when asking about abuse, integration of education about violence into existing health programmes and communication strategies (such as TV soap operas), enabling legal reforms to ensure the rights of abused women, raising the cost to abusers by imposing a range of legal penalties, provision for the needs of victims, and reaching out to male perpetrators (Heise, Ellsberg & Gottemoeller 1999). Approaches which focus on strengthening intimate relationships, one of the commonest contexts for violence, include parenting training, mentoring, and marriage counselling. Some of these, such as the Stepping Stones programme, have

been shown in qualitative evaluations in African and Asian settings to have helped men communicate and given them new respect for women (cited in WHO 2002a). Many programmes have been demonstrated to be effective in the primary outcomes of reduction in violence and, given the linkages between domestic violence and common mental disorders in women, it is likely that such programmes will have a powerful impact on mental health as well.

#### **Social support**

Social support strategies aim to strengthen community organizations to encourage healthy lifestyles and promote mental health. Intersectoral alliances prove effective. An example of this is the promotion of maternal mental health. Poor maternal mental health has been shown to compromise the mother and development of babies (WHO 2000a; Broadhead et al. in press). Interventions to improve the mother's health will improve the mother–child relationship and outcomes for the child. For example, a trial from Zambia showed that mothers who received supportive and counselling interventions took more action to solve infant health problems, which is an indicator of maternal empowerment (Heise 1999). Women-to-women programmes in Peru have also been shown to increase maternal self-esteem (Broadhead et al. in press).

Promoting childhood development in the midst of adversity has received attention in a recent WHO review (WHO 1999). Nutritional and educational interventions were shown to improve psychosocial development in disadvantaged populations. Interventions that combined nutritional and psychosocial components (such as parent stimulation) had the greatest impact. Full-scale programmes that include both components have been implemented in some of the world's poorest countries. Despite the favourable findings, however, it is important to recognize that children who are nutritionally or socioeconomically disadvantaged never fully catch up with children who are well nourished or privileged. There is a need to develop and test models of combined interventions that can reach a larger proportion of children and to evaluate the impact of such child-focused interventions on adult mental and physical health.

Life skills education is a model of health promotion that seeks to teach adolescents to deal effectively with the demands and challenges of everyday life (WHO 1997). Life skills include decision-making, problem-solving, creative and critical thinking, effective communication and interpersonal skills, self-awareness, and coping with emotions and stress. Life skills are distinct from other important skills that young people acquire as they grow up, such as numeracy, reading, and practical livelihood skills. There is evidence, entirely from developed countries so far, that life skills education is effective in the prevention of substance abuse, adolescent pregnancy, and bullying; improved academic performance and school attendance; and the promotion of mental well-being and health behaviours (WHO 1997). This model is now being advocated, field-tested and implemented in a number of developing countries.

#### Aging and mental health: who cares?

By 1990, a majority (58%) of the world's population aged 60 years and over were living in developing countries. By 2020 this proportion will have risen to 67%. Over these 30 years, this oldest sector of the population will have increased in number by 200% in developing countries as compared to 68% in the developed world (Murray & Lopez 1996). This demographic transition will be accompanied not only by economic growth and industrialization, but

also by profound changes in social organization and family life. For older individuals, as with younger ones, mental health conditions are an important cause of morbidity and premature mortality. The elderly face a triple burden in developing countries: a rising tide of noncommunicable and degenerative disorders associated with ageing, falling levels of family support systems, and lack of adequate social welfare systems (Patel & Prince 2001).

A recent book has documented a wide range of programmes aimed at improving the quality of life of elders in developing countries (Tout 1989). The most common types of programmes include some form of income generation. This enables a degree of independence in societies where pensions and government schemes for the elderly are not accessible. In India, HelpAge India has pioneered programmes aimed at recruiting children and youth to provide care for physically unwell elders. CEWA (Centre for the Welfare of the Aged) has set up day centres in which elders can spend time and reduce their social isolation. In South Korea, social events are organized to enable formal introductions between elderly men and women. Reduction in physical disabilities, such as visual disability, and rehabilitation is being implemented in many countries. The Good Neighbour Scheme in Malta includes identifying neighbours to visit lonely elderly people with the objective of providing social support and practical help. All of these examples target three risk factors for poor mental health in the elderly – financial difficulties, social isolation, and poor physical health – and are all likely to have an important impact on mental health.

Those interested in promoting mental h.ealth in lower-income countries need to consider the extent to which the very concept of "mental health promotion" may imply a set of attitudes and assumptions that are not universally held. Mental health promotion programmes, intertwined as they are with fundamental assumptions about how people can and should live their lives, can be accused of amounting to strategies of cultural or biomedical imperialism. It is important to respond to this possible criticism by being reflexive about activities, but also important to avoid a form of radical relativism to disempower and dissuade exploration of what we know from other contexts to be good for mental health.

## Generating evidence on effectiveness and cost-effectiveness

#### The need for evaluation of policies

The evidence currently available on the health outcomes of government policies is patchy, at best. In short, there is good evidence for some interventions, particularly for individual-level interventions, but not for others. This is best illustrated by a recent extensive overview (CRD 2000) which aimed to synthesize evidence on policy interventions which either directly addressed mental health needs or which aimed to address factors strongly associated with poor mental health; the latter category included joblessness, homelessness, and low income. Interventions for which there was evidence of effectiveness included home-based social support for pregnant women at high risk of depression, and social support and problem-solving or cognitive-behavioural training for unemployed people. Some interventions appeared to be harmful, including psychological debriefing after trauma. Other interventions appeared to be effective in addressing the determinants of poor mental health, rather than poor mental health itself, by offering educational, employment, welfare, or other supportive interventions. Pre-school day care seems to be beneficial, as it increases the

chance of being in well-paid employment in adult life and thus reduces the risk of poor mental health. Many effective interventions aimed at tackling alcohol and drug misuse were also identified.

There are many plausible policy interventions which may be expected directly or indirectly to affect mental health but for which strong evidence appears to be absent. Perhaps the most important of these plausible interventions is income supplementation. Poor mental health is consistently associated with poverty and deprivation, and it might be expected that increasing the incomes of the worst-off in society would improve mental and physical health. Yet good evidence of the positive health effects of income supplementation still seems to escape us. Referring to the studies of income supplementation that had not assessed impacts on health, review authors bemoan a "lost opportunity". The same phrase can be applied to the evaluation of many other social interventions.

This "absence of evidence" should not be mistaken for "evidence of absence". Plausible interventions can be applied in the absence of outcome evaluations, based, for example, on observational aetiological research; however, this example does illustrate again the need to foster evaluative research on the mental health and other outcomes of policies. Evaluative research like this, on the mental health outcomes of behavioural, organizational, psychological, or policy interventions, is still relatively uncommon in most countries. In addition, primary economic data on the relative costs and benefits of these interventions is lacking.

#### Difficulties with evaluative research

Five reasons have been suggested for the absence of evaluations of the impacts of policies on mental health. First, the window of opportunity in policy-making is short, leaving little time to develop complex outcome evaluations requiring long lead times; second, the policy environments change rapidly and data become obsolete quickly; third, experimental evaluations are often ill-suited to answer policy questions; fourth, the effects are often small and widely distributed, meaning that large samples and large units of randomization are required; and, finally, funding for this type of evaluative research is limited (Sturm 1999). While many of these obstacles can be (and sometimes have been) overcome, it is reasonable to suggest as Sturm does that there is still a valuable role for longitudinal observational studies which can inform mental health policy by providing mental health monitoring data. The call for more robust outcome evaluations does not therefore preclude the contribution that can be made from observational data on determinants and indicators of mental health (Herrman 2001).

Policy-makers demand better evidence of the effects of upstream interventions such as policies. However, there are particular problems with collecting such evidence, as many of the major social determinants of mental and physical health are not amenable to randomization for practical or political reasons. Examples include new roads, new housing, and area-based regeneration, all of which have been theorized to affect mental health. Recently, researchers in the field of health inequalities have recommended that more use should be made of "natural" experiments (e.g. changes in employment opportunities, housing provision, or other policy initiatives) as opportunities for estimating the health impacts of non-health sector policies. There is clear potential for positive mental health to be promoted through non-health policies, and assessments of the "spillover" effects of such policies will make an important contribution to the mental health evidence base.

#### An example: housing and mental health

There is some evidence from evaluative research which suggests that housing improvement improves mental health. As with employment, there is already good associational evidence, in this

case implicating a poor housing environment with poor health, but there are relatively few evaluations of the actual health impacts of housing policies. For example, a recent systematic review of the literature identified only 18 studies that had monitored health gains following major housing improvement (Thomson, Petticrew & Morrison 2001). The studies themselves were diverse in terms of sample population, location, and type of housing improvement (e.g. they ranged from installation of central heating through to complete refurbishment and associated neighbourhood improvements), and the outcome measures varied widely. However, evidence of a consistently positive mental health impact emerged. In one large prospective controlled study the degree of improvement in mental health was directly related to the extent of housing improvement, demonstrating a dose-response relationship. This consistent pattern of improvements in mental health suggests that, at least in affluent countries, improving housing does generate mental health gains.

A number of other housing-related factors have been linked to variations in mental health, most notably housing tenure, housing design, moving house, and neighbourhood characteristics (Allen 2000). Housing relocation has also been associated with loss of community, uprooting of social networks, and unsatisfied social aspiration, all of which may undermine mental and physical health.

#### Mental health impact assessments

Clearly while policies aimed at improving public housing may have positive mental health effects, there is also significant potential for negative impacts, suggesting again the need to monitor and evaluate the actual health gains (and losses) caused by major changes to housing or other social policies. Expanding this monitoring and evaluation activity will be crucial for the success of mental health impact assessment, which (as with generic health impact assessment) aims to recommend changes to public policies, programmes, or projects in order to maximize any health benefits arising; mitigate any negative effects; and/or prioritize areas of investment to enhance mental health. Successful and meaningful mental health impact assessment depends on, among other things, the availability of good evaluative evidence on the nature, size, and likelihood of predicted mental health impacts. Various sorts of evidence are clearly important too, particularly as evaluations of public health interventions are often scarce. Data from qualitative studies, for example, can be used to identify the existence, nature, and possible mechanisms for unpredicted negative or positive impacts of interventions (Thomson, Petticrew & Douglas 2003). Longitudinal life-course data can examine the long-term health effects of exposures to poor social and economic conditions and can identify aspects of the social environment or indeed populations where interventions may be most appropriately targeted (Kuh et al. 2003). Cross-sectional epidemiological data can be used to inform and prioritize proposed interventions based on the strength of observed associations, as for existing data on unemployment and poor mental health.

#### **Cost-effectiveness**

Primary economic data on the relative costs and benefits of interventions is sparse. Economic evaluations are likely to be of key importance to decision-makers when determining whether or not to implement interventions (Michie & Williams 2003). Economic evaluations aim to answer questions about the best use of resources. The application of economic theory and practice provides a useful set of methods for assessing the worth of promotional activities (Cohen 1984). Yet, as a methodology economic evaluation has not been extensively applied to health promotion (Cohen 1984; Shiell & Hawe 1996; Godfrey 2001; Byford & Sefton 2002; Hale 2000). Studies in the area highlight the challenges

associated with conventional methods for economic evaluation in the setting of health promotion, the long-term nature of anticipated benefits, and a shortage of sensitive suitable outcome measures.

As with clinical evaluation, the preferred design for economic evaluations is an RCT. The use of an RCT may be constrained by the fact that promotional activities are often pitched at the whole of a community rather than a specially recruited group. It may also be unethical or impractical to randomize subjects. For these reasons other methods of evaluation can be employed, such as cluster randomization (comparison of whole populations, such as groups of children in different areas), modelling, and observational studies. Although such studies lack the explanatory power of a control group they are more feasible to carry out and provide a closer representation of the real world. They are also able to study long-term costs and effects of upstream interventions over many years.

Potential consequences of a mental health promotion strategy require appropriate and comprehensive measurement. Table 1 provides a set of potential domains of outcome that could qualify for inclusion in an economic study. The target beneficiaries may be individuals, communities, or populations. At each level it is necessary to consider a number of consequences of the intervention, including intermediate outcomes (e.g. a change in behaviour), and final outcomes in terms of health (improved quality of life) and non-health (social productivity increased). Changes in health may account for only one outcome and therefore consideration of non-health benefits of health promotion is required. The development of measures of community-level outcome is a needy area of research.

As shown in Table 1, it is likely that resources or expenditures will be incurred at a number of levels, including by national or regional governments, local providers or communities, and individuals. These will include costs associated with developing, implementing, and maintaining the health promotion programme; training costs; and, in particular, media costs. Measurement of these costs has posed a considerable challenge to date, owing to the many agencies involved as well as the joint nature of these cost components with other programmes, but some clear progress is now being seen in a number of related areas. For example, the costs of developing and maintaining programmes for the reduction of smoking, heavy alcohol use, unsafe sex, and cardiovascular disease risk factors have been recently compiled for different regions of WHO (Johns et al. 2003).

Table 1: Cost-outcome domains for the economic analysis of mental health promotion

	Level 1: Individuals (e.g. school children and workers)	Level 2: Groups (e.g. households and communities)	Level 3: Population (e.g. regions and countries)
Resource inputs	Health-seeking time Health and social care Lifestyle changes (e.g. exercise)	Programme implementation Household support	Policy development and implementation
Process indicators	Change in attitudes or behaviour	Change in attitudes or behaviour	Change in attitudes or behaviour
Health outcomes	Functioning and quality of life Mortality (e.g. suicide)	Family burden Violence	Summary measures (e.g. DALYs)
Social and economic benefits	Self-esteem Workforce participation	Social capital / cohesion Reduced unemployment	Social inclusion Productivity gains Reduced health care costs

## **Part III: Policy and practice**

This section considers the way forward in developing policy frameworks in relevant sectors of government and commerce, and in developing sustainable changes in local communities.

## Mental health is everybody's business

The scope and outcome of mental health promotion activities is potentially wide. At the conceptual level, mental health can be and should be defined broadly. At a more practical level, it is useful to distinguish between interventions that have the primary goal of improving the mental health of individuals and communities, and others that are mainly intended to achieve something else but which enhance mental health as a side-benefit. An example of the former is policies and programmes that encourage schools to prevent bullying and that improve parenting skills; policies and resources that ensure girls in a developing country attend school and programmes to improve public housing could be considered examples of the latter. This distinction helps narrow the scope of what can be called mental health promotion interventions and the allocation of relative responsibilities. Monitoring the effect on mental health of public policies relating to housing and education is, for instance, becoming feasible. The mental health programme or interests in a country or locality would need to advocate for this, watch that it occurs, and help use the findings. Other groups will need to do the work, however, and ensure that policies and practices are shaped by the findings.

The activities of mental health promotion may usefully be mainstreamed with health promotion, although the advocacy needs to remain distinct. Bearing in mind the intimate connection between physical and mental health, many of the interventions designed to improve mental health will also promote physical health and vice versa. Health and mental health are affected by non-health sector policies and a range of community interventions.

The actions that promote mental health will often have as an important outcome the prevention of mental disorders. The evidence is that mental health promotion is also effective in the prevention of a whole range of behaviour-related diseases and risks. It can help, for instance, in the prevention of smoking and of unprotected sex, and hence of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) or teenage pregnancy. These are not mental disorders. In fact, the potential of mental health promotion in preventing mental disorders is rather low compared with the potential contribution to the prevention of health-damaging and anti-social behaviours (Orley & Weisen 1998).

## Mental health promotion: an important component of mental health policy

Mental health promotion needs to be integrated as a part of policy in order to give it the status and strategic direction required for its successful implementation. Mental health policy is an organized set of values, principles, and objectives for improving mental heath and reducing the burden of mental disorders in a population. When well-formulated, mental health policy identifies and facilitates agreements for action among different stakeholders, designating clear roles and responsibilities. If mental health policy is developed as part of broader social policy (rather than as a stand-alone policy or subsumed within a general health policy) the emphasis on mental health promotion is likely to be more substantial. There are more opportunities to engage a variety of stakeholders representing different sectors in the development and implementation of the policy.

#### **Components of policy**

A policy is composed of a vision statement, a statement of the values and principles underlying the policy, a set of objectives that help operationalize the policy, and a description of the major areas of action to achieve the policy objectives.

#### **Vision statement**

The vision statement incorporates the main elements of the policy and sets out what is to be expected or achieved some years after its implementation. It should set high expectations as to what is desirable in the realm of mental health while being realistic within the resources available.

#### Values and principles

Values refer to the judgments about what is considered desirable. Principles refer to the standards to quide actions and should emanate from values.

#### **Objectives**

Objectives are measurable goals that break the policy's vision into achievable tasks. They should aim to improve the health of a population and respond to people's expectations as well as provide financial protection against costs of ill-health (WHO 2000).

#### Areas for action and strategies

Areas for action and strategies take the objectives of the mental health policy forward. Effective mental health policy considers the simultaneous development of several areas (see box).

## Principal areas for action in mental health policy

- Financing
- Legislation and human rights
- Organization of services
- Human resources and training
- Promotion, prevention, treatment, and rehabilitation
- Essential drug procurement and distribution
- Advocacy
- Quality improvement
- Information systems
- Research and evaluation of policies and services
- Intersectoral collaboration

Mental health promotion works at three levels: strengthening individuals, strengthening communities, and reducing structural barriers to mental heath (Mentality 2003). This framework is useful for conceptualizing the entry points for promotion within a mental health policy. Structural barriers to mental health can be reduced through initiatives to reduce discrimination and inequalities and to promote access to education, meaningful employment, housing, health services, and support to those who are vulnerable.

### A general framework for mental health promotion

A general framework for considering mental health promotion strategies for whole communities and populations is ideally supported by a government's social development as well as health and mental health policies. The framework has three aspects: a concept of mental health, strategies to guide mental health promotion, and a model for planning and evaluation.

#### A concept of mental health

Mental health promotion involves adopting an approach based on a positive view of mental health rather than emphasizing mental illness and deficits. Health promotion is characterized by a positive approach that aims to engage with people and empower them to improve population health.

#### Mental health promotion strategies

The Ottawa Charter of Health Promotion (WHO 1986) provides a foundation for health promotion strategies and can be considered a guide for the promotion of mental health. It draws attention to individual, social, and environmental factors that influence health. The Ottawa Charter provides a sound framework for this positive approach, with its new public health philosophy and its emphasis on healthy policy, supportive environments, and control of health issues by people in their everyday settings. Its main strategies are building healthy public policies, creating supportive environments, strengthening community action, developing personal skills, and reorienting health services.

#### **Building healthy public policies**

All public policies, not only those concerned with health, are considered relevant to health promotion. The Ottawa Charter recognizes that most societal structures and actions have an effect on health. Mental health promotion has an advocacy role to enhance the visibility and value of mental health to individuals and societies.

#### **Creating supportive environments**

Environmental health strategies have long been recognized as important to health. However, the focus has been largely on tangible areas. More attention needs to be given to the social and macro environments and the mechanisms through which they exert their influence on health. The complex interactions between an individual and their environment are contextual and mediated by individual experiences and skills, and social and cultural factors. A challenge for the promotion of mental health is to recognize the effect of these factors on environments and to develop interventions to modify them and indicators to evaluate impact and outcome (Catalano & Dooley 1980).

#### Strengthening community action

Community action of people striving to achieve a mutual goal enhances social capital, creates a sense of empowerment, and increases the capacity and resilience of the community.

#### **Developing personal skills**

Information and its dissemination are critical to improving people's understanding of mental health. The concepts of health literacy are being used as guides to mental health literacy and contribute to mental health promotion.

#### **Reorienting health services**

The Ottawa Charter seeks to reorient health services from the medical model to a more inclusive holistic approach. A healthy health policy aims to achieve a balance between the two models. A complementary approach where "soft strategies" with their foundations in sociological domains are applied with the "interventions strategy" based on evidence from RCTs is suggested.

#### A model for planning and evaluation

A simple planning model helps implement the principles and strategies discussed. The determinants of mental health need to be described and operationalized in each setting with the aim of developing interventions. It is helpful to plan strategic applications at three broad population levels: society (e.g. policy and health services), community (e.g. schools and workplaces) and individual (including families and small groups).

## Community development as a strategy for mental health promotion: lessons from a low-income country

Community development is a people-centred approach. It aims to develop social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities with a particular focus on marginalized members. It has a participatory emphasis on identifying solutions to community problems based on local knowledge and priorities. Work done in rural areas of India exemplifies some aspects of the relationship between community development and promotion of mental health, even where the objectives of the programme may not include a specific focus on mental health.

Poverty, inequality, gender discrimination, and domestic violence are major contributors to mental illness within village settings in rural India. Related factors that have been linked with mental ill-health in the literature are also found, including low self-esteem, learned helplessness, less security, higher levels of adverse life events, social isolation, distress, unemployment, financial and economic deprivation, low social status, low levels of education, and female gender (McKenzie 2000; Mumford et al. 1997; WHO 1990).

A large primary health care programme in rural Indian villages directly targeting poverty, inequality, and gender discrimination has led indirectly to significant gains in mental well-being. A key to the success of community development in these villages, and therefore to the improvement in mental health, has been an approach that is mindful of the needs, interests, and responsibilities of men and women, and that has focused on reducing the vulnerability and increasing the participation of women. As the interventions succeeded, the people realized the empowerment of working together and they became open to approaching other issues affecting the village such as health needs and caste discrimination.

Figure 2 describes the links between community development and mental health in this project. The lessons learned provide a template for the introduction of similar programmes elsewhere. The understanding of local factors relevant to a community, the empowerment of that community to solve its own problems, and subsequent improvement in the determinants of mental health demonstrate why the community development approach is a key strategy for mental health promotion.

		Increase in :		
		↑ Social relationships and support		
		Social capital		
		↑ Social safety nets which can be tapped during crises	-	
		↑ Effective coping skills		
		Improved housing, health care and education		
		↑ Economic development		
Community Development	↑ Health, uncomplicated pregnancies, nutrition, cleaner envi-			
		<ul> <li>↑ Economic independence of women → increased standing of women → greater opportunity for decision making by women, including family planning</li> <li>↑ Water resources → reduced community disharmony and burden on women</li> </ul>		H:
		↑ Empowerment: people believing they can identify solutions to problems and create change		ental Healt
	<b>→</b>	↑ Capacity to focus on higher values and to show compassion for those who are more vulnerable	<b>→</b>	ntal
	↑ Empowerment of women → more girls in school, fewer problems relating to negative adolescent experiences, reduced domestic violence		Mei	
		↑ Adolescent girls groups → opportunities for socialisation, education, empowerment and enhancement of self-esteem		
		↑ Equity and opportunities for marginalised groups		
	Decrease in:			
		Alcohol abuse and violence		
		◆ Caste discrimination		
		Fear of dying from pregnancy or illnesses due to the presence of a VHW (supported by CRHP program staff) → better family planning → freedom from having to provide for large		
		family  Corruption and crime		
		Inequality within society		

Source: Arole, Fuller & Deutschman in press

### **Developing sustainable interventions**

Sustainability in health promotion refers to the capacity of an intervention to continue to deliver benefits or health gains beyond the initial funding or "demonstration project" stage. Programmes are said to be sustainable if, given limited resources, efforts towards achieving the benefits continue. The research and theory on sustainability in the general field of health promotion has generated a number of useful examples, although the accumulated experience in mental health promotion alone is small.

A number of studies have shaped our thinking about sustainability. Goodman and Steckler (1987) led the way with a study that identified a cohort of programmes funded 10 years earlier and traced their progress. Their interest was in what factors predicted which programmes "lived" and which "died". The results surprised people. A key factor was the presence of a champion higher up in the host organization, that is, someone who could advocate for the programme in the key decision-making forum. This research spawned a range of enquiry focusing attention on the factors in organizations that promote sustainability. The work drew attention to the fact that that the way a programme is set up in the first place affects the likelihood of its continuation (Shediac-Rizzkallah & Bone 1998).

The main features that are known to be associated with programme sustainability are:

- There is evidence that the programme is effective.
- Consumers/funders/decision-makers were involved in its development.
- The host organization provides real or in-kind support from the outset.
- The potential to generate additional funds is high.
- The host organization is "mature" (stable, resourceful).
- The programme and host organization have compatible missions.
- The programme is not a separate unit but rather its policies, procedures and responsibilities are integrated into the organization.
- Someone in authority (other than the programme director) is a champion of the programme at high levels in the organization.
- The programme has few "rival providers" that would benefit from the programme discontinuing.
- The host organization has a history of innovation.
- The value and mission of the programme fit well with the broader community.
- The programme has community champions who would decry its discontinuation.
- Other organizations are copying the innovations of the programme.

Research in sustainability is increasing but what to measure has become more complicated. Most work is focused on the presence or absence of programmes (Bracht et al. 1994). But as Green (1987) points out, the proper goal of programme investment in health promotion is not the continuation of programmes per se, but the sustained capacity to address the problem at hand. This sustained capacity can take many forms and may remain very strong long after the name, the logo, and even the staff of the original programme have disappeared. This directly ties research on sustainability to research on capacity building in health promotion (Hawe et al. 1997).

The new dynamic we need to address is less about adding programmes than it is about sharpening the functioning and capacity of systems – e.g. primary health care systems, school systems – to be more health-enhancing. The new frontier in sustainability research therefore is less about the technological aspects of programmes and more about programmes as change processes

within organizations or communities. Programmes are opportunities to "recalibrate" systems to higher or better levels of functioning.

The new frontier also includes a more systematic analysis of the context within which programmes are provided and factors within that context (such as pre-existing morale and interagency relationships) that might predict why some programmes wither over time while others flourish.

### An intersectoral approach to mental health promotion

The drivers of health lie outside the health sector (Marmot 1999).

The Ottawa Charter "puts health on the agenda of policy makers in all sectors and at all levels" (WHO 1986, p. 2). The Jakarta Declaration on Health Promotion goes even further in emphasizing the need for intersectoral collaboration:

There is a need to break through traditional boundaries within government sectors, between government and nongovernment organisations, and between public and private sectors. Cooperation is essential ... this requires the creation of new partnerships ... (WHO 1997a, p. 3).

This is even more important for mental health promotion.

Those working collaboratively need to:

- build on existing activity in sectors, settings and organizations;
- create different partnerships for different purposes, at varying levels; and
- create collaborative action "horizontally" within government departments and organizations, and between those expert in policy, practice, and research.

The need for collaborative practice in mental health promotion is firmly established by the socio-political and economic determinants of health. That is, influencing the determinants of health, such as enhancing social connectedness, ensuring freedom from discrimination and violence, and workplace and physical environmental change, will not be achieved by health sector action alone but rather through an intersectoral approach. The multidisciplinary approach involving research, policy, and practice in employment, education, justice, welfare, the arts, sports, and the built environment aims to improve mental health through increased participation and social connectedness.

The settings for this practice can include schools, workplaces, and community arts or sports. Population groups include students, employees, employers, older people, low income communities, young people, and people from immigrant or minority groups. A diversity of strategies are used in these settings – policy development; organizational change; theatre, narrative and consultative processes; community development and engagement; and changing the physical and social environment. The nature of collaboration will vary in settings and sectors and across different levels. Good outcomes almost always require shared planning and ownership across the sectors involved.

Collaboration and partnership take time and a commitment to ensuring shared goals and outcomes, however. The challenges include vertical funding within sectors, diverse professional backgrounds and views, competing priorities, various and often inequitable funding models, population group models of health, and complex decision-making processes.

The most significant components of an intersectoral approach to achieve better health outcomes include:

- the adoption of a unifying language with which to work across sectors;
- a partnerships approach to allocation and sharing of resources; and
- a strengthening of capacity across the individual, organizational, and community dimensions.

Models of health that stem from indigenous paradigms are now seen to be models of good practice for all. Samoan communities have a "fonofale" model of health, for example, that is based on the traditional house or "fale". The roof represents cultural values and beliefs; the foundation is the family, nuclear and extended; and the four posts represent "physical-biological", "spiritual", "mental and emotional", and "other" well-being (which includes variables such as gender, sexual orientation, age, and social class) (Anae et al. 2002). Indigenous Australians, like Samoan and Maori communities, do not recognize a mental/physical divide. The interaction of elements is crucial in establishing well-being (Anae et al. 2002). This view of mental health necessitates the formation of partnerships with communities to develop mental health promotion that is culturally sensitive.

#### Case-studies: Partnerships addressing the social determinants of mental health

The following case studies demonstrate the impact of the health sector working in partnership with other sectors to address the social determinants of mental health.

#### Mentally Healthy Schools in Aotearoa New Zealand

The health promoting schools framework (WHO 1996) is widely implemented in the developed and developing world and is a key example of intersectoral collaboration between the health and educational sectors. The New Zealand Ministry of Health funded the development of Mentally Healthy Schools guidelines by the Mental Health Foundation of New Zealand (MHF 2001). This project linked curriculum learning and teaching, school organization and ethos, community links, partnerships, and services. It exemplified the links between national goals of two government sectors that contributed to the health and well-being of school children.

#### MindMatters – a national school mental health promotion resource

MindMatters is a national school mental health promotion resource that was funded by the Australian Commonwealth Department of Health. It provides a structured strategy for generating health-promoting schools that promote young people's well-being through all aspects of the school environment. The health sector's acknowledgement of the priorities of the educational system and teachers facilitated collaboration. It marks a shift away from health sector interventions that emphasize individual deficits and focuses on findings of educational research regarding effective school programme implementation (Wyn et al. 2000).

#### Socializing the care and promotion of older people's health in Danang City

Danang City is a coastal city in Vietnam. A community-based social health care programme was developed to promote and protect the health of older people. It involved the collaboration of sports and activities centres. Grandparents were encouraged to set good examples to the young, and the young to care for their grandparents ("Model like grandparents – Pious children"). Health education and counselling to improve activities and self-care were enhanced. The general hospital also established specialized wards to cater for the care of older people and doctors were able to better appreciate the needs of the elderly.

This case-study illustrates how action of various types at different levels in a community can improve mental health through awareness-raising and increasing social connectedness. The practices of the medical staff and hospital were altered. A programme of health education that linked older and younger people gave value to both groups. The health of older people was improved substantially.

#### International collaboration and the role of WHO

It is clear that mental health promotion depends on intersectoral collaboration and that most of the interventions may actually be the responsibility of sectors outside traditional mental health. There is also a clear need for advocacy, since mental health issues are often implicit rather than explicit and hidden rather than in the open. The need for international collaboration, hence, is crucial.

WHO, as the lead international agency responsible for health, has recognized the value of mental health and its promotion. Its activities emanate from the core conceptualization of health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of diseases or infirmity" given earlier. The WHO Constitution also stipulates some core functions. These include:

- "To foster activities in the field of mental health, especially those affecting the harmony of human relations"; and
- "To assist in developing an informed public opinion among all peoples on matters of health".

Numerous World Health Assembly (WHA) Resolutions related to mental health promotion have urged Member States to take steps to prevent mental illness and to promote mental health, and requested the Director-General to undertake steps to provide information and guidance regarding suitable strategies (WHO 2002). In 2002, a resolution was adopted urging WHO to "facilitate effective development of policies and programmes to strengthen and protect mental health" (WHA55.10). It called for "coalition building with civil society and key actions in order to enhance global awareness-raising and advocacy campaigns on mental health" (WHO 2002).

The role of WHO in mental health promotion can be briefly summarized as follows.

## To generate, review, compile, and update evidence on strategies for mental health promotion, especially from low and middle-income countries

Though there are numerous published studies on mental health promotion and, from time to time, efforts have been made to assimilate them, a comprehensive review of literature related to evidence-based research in this area has not been available. *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice* and the accompanying work on prevention of mental disorders are an attempt to fill this gap. The evidence for effectiveness of mental health promotion is least available in areas that have the maximum need, such as in low and middle-income countries and conflict areas where mental health is especially compromised. More efforts are needed to generate evidence from these settings. Attention also needs to be paid to strategies that have been found to be ineffective or inappropriate on the basis of all kinds of evidence. Information on these is useful in order to prevent wastage of precious resources.

#### To develop appropriate strategies and programmes

WHO can assist countries in developing appropriate strategies and programmes for implementation. Some of the factors to be considered are:

- evidence of effectiveness
- the principle of prudence
- cultural appropriateness and acceptability
- financial and personnel requirements
- level of technological sophistication and infrastructure requirements
- overall yield and benefit
- potential for large-scale application.

#### To facilitate partnerships and collaboration

Mental health promotion requires the collective efforts of all organizations with responsibility for sectors that may have a direct or indirect impact on mental health. At the international level, these include professional associations, other international organizations, national governments, nongovernmental organizations, the health industry, and prospective donors. WHO is well positioned to forge strategic links with all these bodies and to develop effective programmes for mental health promotion. International organizations with which WHO regularly collaborates in this area are the International Labour Office (ILO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), and the World Bank.

## **Key recommendations**

Mental health is a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community. Promotion of mental health contributes towards overall health and should form an essential component of health promotion.

The scope for promoting mental health is identified by analogy with physical health promotion successes. Mental health is a community responsibility, not just an individual concern, just as many countries and communities have realized for heart health, tobacco control, dental health, and in other areas. The social and economic costs of poor mental health are high and the evidence suggests that they will continue to grow without community and government action.

The following key recommendations can be drawn from the material presented in this Summary Report. These are especially relevant to health policy planners and public health professionals in low and middle-income countries.

- 1 Promotion of mental health can be achieved by effective public health and social interventions. The scientific evidence base in this area is relatively limited, but evidence at varying levels is available to demonstrate the effectiveness of several programmes and interventions for enhancing mental health of populations. These include:
  - early childhood interventions (e.g. home visiting for pregnant women, pre-school psychosocial interventions, combined nutritional and psychosocial interventions among disadvantaged populations);
  - economic and social empowerment of women (e.g. improving access to education, micro-credit schemes);
  - social support to old age populations (e.g. befriending initiatives, community and day centres for the aged);
  - programmes targeted at vulnerable groups such as minorities, indigenous people, migrants, and people affected by conflicts and disasters (e.g. psychological and social interventions during the reconsolidation phase after disasters);
  - mental health promotion activities in schools (e.g. programmes supporting ecological changes in schools, child-friendly schools);
  - mental health interventions at work (e.g. stress prevention programmes);
  - housing policies (e.g. housing improvement);
  - violence prevention programmes (e.g. community policing initiatives); and
  - community development programmes (e.g. Communities That Care, integrated rural development).
- 2 Intersectoral collaboration is the key to effective programmes for mental health promotion. For some collaborative programmes, mental health outcomes are the primary objectives; however, for the majority these may be secondary to other social and economic outcomes but are valuable in their own right.
- 3 Sustainability of programmes is crucial to their effectiveness. Involvement of all stakeholders, ownership by the community, and continued availability of resources facilitate sustainability of mental health promotion programmes.
- 4 More scientific research and systematic evaluation of programmes is needed to increase the evidence base as well as to determine the applicability of this evidence base in widely varying cultures and resource settings.
- 5 International action is necessary for generating and disseminating further evidence, for assisting low and middle-income countries in implementing effective programmes (and not implementing those that are ineffective), and for fostering international collaboration.

## References

- Albee GW, Gullotta TP (1997). *Primary prevention works*. Thousand Oaks, Sage Publications.
- Allen N, Lewinsohn P, Seeley J (1998). Prenatal and perinatal influences on risk for psychopathology in childhood and adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 10(3):513–529.
- Allen T (2000). Housing renewal doesn't it make you sick? *Housing*, 15(3):443–461.
- Anae M et al. (2002). Towards promoting youth mental health in Aotearoa New Zealand: holistic houses of health. *International Journal of Mental Health* Promotion, 4(3):5–14.
- Anderson P (1999). Tobacco, alcohol and illicit drugs. In: The evidence of health promotion effectiveness. A report for the European Commission by the International Union for Health Promotion and Education. Paris, International Union for Health Promotion and Education.
- Anthony J (in press). Existing evidence: determinants of mental health. In: Herrman H, Saxena S, Moodie R, eds. *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- Armstrong M, Goldsteen K (1990). Friendship support patterns of older American women. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 4(4):391–404.
- Bang A, Bang R (1991). Community participation in research and action against alcoholism. *World Health Forum*, 12:104–109.
- Bang A, Bang R (1995). Action against alcoholism. *Health Action*, 11:2.
- Baum F (1998). The new public health: an Australian perspective. Melbourne, Oxford University Press.
- Baum F (1999). Social capital: is it good for your health? Issues for a public health agenda. *Journal* of Epidemiology and Community Health, 53: 195–196
- Bellew R, King E (1993). Educating women: lessons from experience. In: King E, Hill A, eds. *Barriers, benefits and policies*. Baltimore, John Hopkins University Press.
- Benzeval M, Judge K, Whitehead M, eds (1995).

  Tackling inequalities in health: an agenda for action.

  London, Kings Fund.
- Black D, Mittelmark M (1999). Equity in health: a fundamental human right. In: The International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE). The evidence of health promotion effectiveness: shaping public health in a new Europe. Part Two. Brussels-Luxembourg, ECSE-EC-EAEC:156-164.

- Bracht N et al. (1994). Community ownership and program continuation following a health demonstration project. *Health Education Research*, 9:243–255.
- Bradburn NM, Caplovitz D (1965). *Reports on happiness*. Chicago, Aldine Publishing Company.
- Broadhead J et al. (in press). Social support and life events as risk factors for depression among women in an urban setting in Zimbabwe. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology.
- Brooks-Gunn J et al. (2001). Effects of combined public assistance and employment on mothers and their young children. *Women and Health*, 32(3):179 210.
- Brown CH et al. (2000). Evaluating the evidence of effectiveness for preventive interventions: using a registry system to influence policy through science. *Addictive Behaviours*, 25:955–964.
- Brown GW, Harris TO, eds (1989). *Life events and illness*. New York, Guilford Press.
- Brown H, Strugeon S (in press). Healthy start of life and reducing early risks. In: Hosman: C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds. *Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Bunker SJ et al. (2003). "Stress" and coronary heart disease: psychosocial risk factors. National Heart Foundation of Australia position statement update. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 178:272–276.
- Byford S, Sefton T (2002). First aid: lessons from health economics for economic evaluation in social welfare. [Discussion paper.] London, London School of Economics, Health and Social Care.
- Caplan M et al. (1992). Social competence promotion with inner-city and suburban young adolescents: effects on social adjustment and alcohol use. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 60(1): 56–63.
- Carson AJ et al. (2002). Depression after stroke. *Lancet*, 356:122–126.
- Catalano R, Dooley D (1980). Economic change in primary prevention. In: Price R et al. (eds). Prevention in mental health – research, policy and practice. London, Sage.
- Cederblad M et al. (1995). Coping with life span crises in a group at risk of mental and behavioural disorders: from the Lundby study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavia*, 91:322–330.
- Chowdhury A, Bhuiya A (2001). Do poverty alleviation programs reduce inequities in health? The Bangladesh experience. In: Leon D, Walt G, eds. *Poverty, inequality and health*. Oxford, Oxford University Press:312–332.

- Cohen A (2002). Our lives were covered in darkness. The work of the National Literary Mission in Northern India. In: Cohen A, Kleinman A, Saraceno B, eds. World mental health casebook: social and mental health programs in low-income countries. New York, London, Dordrecht:Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publishers:153-190.
- Cohen D (1984). Utility model of preventive behaviour. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 38:61–65.
- Cooper B (1990). Epidemiology and prevention in the mental health field. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 25:9–15.
- Cooper B (1993). Single spies and battalions: the clinical epidemiology of mental disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, 23:891–907.
- Costello EJ et al. (2003). Relationships between poverty and psychopathology; a natural experiment. JAMA, 290:2023–2029.
- CRD (2000). Evidence from systematic reviews of research relevant to implementing the 'wider public health' agenda. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/wph.htm accessed August 2000).
- Davis MK, Gidycz CA (2000). Child sexual abuse prevention programs: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29:257–265.
- Desjarlais R et al. (1995). World mental health: problems and priorities in low income countries. New York, Oxford University Press.
- Domitrovich C et al (in press). Schools as a context for the prevention of mental health disorders and promotion of mental health. In: Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds. *Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Durkheim E (1897). In: Simpson G, Spaulding JA, Simpson G, eds (1951). *Suicide: a study in sociology*. New York, Free Press.
- Durlak JA (1995). School-based prevention programs for children and adolescents. Thousand Oaks, Sage Publications.
- Durlak JA, Wells AM (1997). Primary prevention mental health programs for children and adolescents: a meta-analytic review. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 25:115–152.
- Durlak JA, Wells AM (1998). Evaluation of indicated preventive intervention (secondary prevention) mental health programs for children and adolescents. American Journal of Community Psychology, 26:775–802.
- Eaton WW, Harrison G (1996). Prevention priorities. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 9:141–143.

- Eaton WW, Harrison G (1998). Epidemiology and social aspects of the human environment. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*; 11:165–168.
- Eisenberg L (1998). Public health importance. In: Jenkins R, Ustun TB, eds. *Preventing mental illness: mental health promotion in primary care*. Chichester, John Wiley:141–154.
- Elgen I, Sommerfelt K, Markestad T (2002).

  Population based, controlled study of behavioural problems and psychiatric disorders in low birth weight children at 11 years of age. Archive of Disease in Childhood. Fetal and Neonatal Edition, 87(2):F128–F132.
- Elias MJ (1995). Primary prevention as health and social competence promotion. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 16:5–24.
- Felner RD et al. (1993). Restructuring the ecology of the school as an approach to prevention during school transitions: longitudinal follow-ups and extensions of the School Transitional Environment Project (STEP). Prevention in Human Services, 10: 103–136.
- Gillies P (1999). The effectiveness of alliances and partnerships for health promotion. *Health Promotion International*, 13:1–21.
- Gilvarry E (2000). Substance abuse in young people. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 41:55–80.
- Godfrey C (2001). Economic evaluation of health promotion. In: Rootman I et al., eds. *Evaluation in health promotion: principles and perspectives*. Geneva, World Health Organization (WHO Regional Publications, European Series, No. 92).
- Goldberg D (1998). Prevention of mental illness. In: Jenkins R, Ustun TB, eds. *Preventing mental illness: mental health promotion in primary care.* Chichester, John Wiley:141–154.
- Goodman RM, Steckler AB (1987). A model of institutionalisation of health promotion programs. Family and Community Health, 11:63–78.
- Gostin L (2001). Beyond moral claims. A human rights approach to mental health. Special section: keeping human rights on the bioethics agenda. *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, 10: 264–274.
- Green LW (1987). Is institutionalisation the proper goal of grant making? *Family and Community Health*, 11:79.
- Greenberg MT, Domitrovich C, Bumbarger B (2001).
  The prevention of mental disorders in school-aged children: current state of the field. *Prevention and Treatment*, 4:np.

- Greenberg MT, Kusche CA (1998). Preventive interventions for school-age deaf children: The PATHS curriculum. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 3(1):49–63.
- Hale J (2000). What contribution can health economics make to health promotion? *Health Promotion International*, 15:341–348.
- Hawe P et al. (1997). Multiplying health gains: the critical role of capacity-building in health promotion. *Health Policy*, 39:29–42.
- Hawkins D et al. (1992). The Seattle social development project: effects of the first four years on protective factors and problem behaviours. In: McCord J, Tremblay RE, eds. Preventing antisocial behavior: interventions from birth through adolescence. New York, Guilford Press:139 161.
- Hawkins D, Arthur M, Olson J (1997). Community interventions to reduce risks and enhance protection against antisocial behaviour. In: Stoff DW, Breiling J, Masers JD, eds. *Handbook of antisocial behaviour*. NIMH/John Wiley & Sons:365-374.
- Hawkins D, Catalano R, Arthur M (2002). Promoting science-based prevention in communities. *Addictive Behaviours*, 27:951 976.
- Hawkins D, von Cleve E, Catalano R (1991). Reducing early childhood aggression: results of a primary prevention program. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(2): 208 217.
- HEA (1997). Mental health promotion: a quality framework. London, Health Education Authority.
- Heise L, Ellsberg M, Gottemoeller M (1999). Ending violence against women. Baltimore, Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, Population Information Program (Population Reports Series L, No. 11).
- Henderson S, Whiteford H (2003). Social capital and mental health. *Lancet*, 362:505–506.
- Herrman H (2001). The need for mental health promotion. The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 35:709–715.
- Hoefnagels C (in press). The case of child abuse prevention. In: Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds. Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Hosman C (2001). Evidence of effectiveness in mental health promotion. In: *Proceedings of the European Conference on Promotion of Mental Health and Social Inclusion*. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (Report 3).

- Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E (1999). Political challenges 2: mental health. In: *The evidence of health promotion effectiveness: shaping public health in a new Europe*. Brussels, ECSC-EC-EAEC:29–41.
- Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E (in press). Evidence of effective interventions of mental health promotion. In: Herrman H, Saxena S, Moodie R, eds. *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds (in press). Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- House JS, Landis KR, Umberson D (1988). Social relationships and health. *Science*, 214:540–545.
- IUHPE (2000). The evidence of health promotion effectiveness: shaping health in a new Europe. 2nd edn. A report for the European Commission. Paris, International Union for Health Promotion and Education.
- Jahoda M (1958). Current concepts of positive mental health. New York, Basic Books.
- Jané-Llopis E et al. (2003). Predictors of efficacy in depression prevention. Meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 183.
- Jané-Llopis E, Hosman C, Copeland J (in press).
  Aging mentally healthy and the prevention of dementia. In: Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds. Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Jenkins R, Lehtinen V, Lahtinen E (2001). Emerging perspectives on mental health. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 3(1):25–43.
- Johns B et al. (2003). Programme costs in the economic evaluation of health interventions. *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation*, 1: 1 (http://www.resource-allocation.com)
- Johnson Z et al. (1993). Community mothers programme: randomised controlled trial of non-professional intervention in parenting. *British Medical Journal*, 306:1449–1452.
- Johnson Z et al. (2000). Community mothers programme: seven year follow-up of a randomised controlled trial of non-professional intervention in parenting. *Journal of Public Health Medicine*, 22(3): 337–342.
- Kawachi I, Berkman L (2001). Social ties and mental health. *Journal of Urban Health*, 78:458–467.

- Kawachi I, Kennedy B (1997). Socioeconomic determinants of health: health and social cohesion. Why care about income inequality? *British Medical Journal*, 314:1037–1040.
- Kawachi I, Kennedy B, Glass R (1999). Social capital and self-rated health: a contextual analysis. American Journal of Public Health, 89(8):1187–1193.
- Kellam SG et al. (1994). Depressive symptoms over first grade and their response to a developmental epidemiologically based preventive trial aimed at improving achievement. Development and Psychopathology, 6:463 481.
- Kendler KS (1997). Social support: a genetic-epidemiologic analysis. American Journal of Psychiatry, 154(10):1398–1404.
- Kickbusch I (2003). The contribution of the World Health Organization to a new public health and health promotion. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93:383–388.
- Kleinman A (1999). Social violence: research questions on local experiences and global responses. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56:978–979.
- Korkeila JJ (2000). Measuring aspects of mental health. Helsinki, National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health (STAKES).
- Kreitman N (1990). Research issues in the epidemiological and public health aspects of parasuicide and suicide. In: Goldberg D, Tantam D, eds. *The public health impact of mental disorders*. Toronto, Hogrefe and Huber.
- Kuh D et al. (2003). Life course epidemiology. *Journal* of *Epidemiology and Community Health*, 57(10): 778–783.
- Kuper H, Marmot M, Hemingway H (2002). A systematic review of prospective cohort studies of psychosocial factors in the aetiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease. Seminars in Vascular Medicine, 2:267–314.
- Labonté R, Robertson A (1996). Delivering the goods, showing our stuff: the case for the constructivist paradigm for health promotion research and practice. *Health Education Quarterly*, 23(4):431–447.
- Lahtinen E et al., eds (1999). Framework for promoting mental health in Europe. Hamina, (STAKES) National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland.
- Lavikainen J, Lahtinen E, Lehtinen V (2000). *Public health approach on mental health in Europe.*National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health. (STAKES) Ministry of Social Affairs and Health.

- Lehtinen V, Riikonen E, Lahtinen E (1997). *Promotion of mental health on the European agenda*. Helsinki, (STAKES), National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health.
- Leighton A, Murphy J (1987). Primary prevention of psychiatric disorders. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavica*, Suppl. 337:76.
- Levkoff S, MacArthur I, Bucknall J (1995). Elderly mental health in the developing world. *Social Science Medicine*, 41(7):983–1003.
- Lochner K, Kawachi I, Kennedy B (1999). Social capital: a guide to its measurement. *Health and Place*, 5:259–270.
- Lomas J (1998). Social capital and health implications for public health and epidemiology. *Social Science and Medicine*, 47(9):1181–1188.
- MacMillan HL et al. (1994a). Primary prevention of child physical abuse and neglect: a critical review: I. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 35:835–856.
- MacMillan HL et al. (1994b). Primary prevention of child sexual abuse: A critical review: II. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 35:857–876.
- Marmot M (1999). The solid facts: the social determinants of health. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 9(2):133–139.
- Marmot MG (1998). Improvement of social environment to improve health. *Lancet*, 351:57–60.
- McKenzie K, Whitley R, Weich S (2002). Social capital and mental health. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 181:280–283.
- McKenzie K, Kwame (2000). Social capital and mental health. Paper presented at the Interrelations of Social Capital with Health and Mental Health Workshop; The World Bank, Washington, Jul 17.
- McQueen DV, Anderson LM (2001). What counts as evidence: issues and debates. In: Rootman et al., eds. *Evaluation in health promotion: principles and perspectives*. WHO Regional Publications, European Series, No. 92:63–81.
- Mendes P (2003). A chapter missing? aspects of the inner life of ex-under aged soldiers. Unpublished paper/communication.
- Mentality (2003). Making it effective: a guide to evidence based mental health promotion. Radical mentalities briefing paper 1. London, mentality (www.mentality.org.uk).
- MHF (2001). Guidelines for mentally healthy schools. New Zealand, Mental Health Foundation of New Zealand.

- Michie S, Williams S (2003). Reducing work-related psychological ill health and sickness absence: a systematic literature review. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60(1):3–9.
- Mrazek P, Haggerty R, eds (1994). Reducing risks of mental disorder: frontiers for preventive intervention research. Washington, National Academy Press.
- Mulrow C et al. (1990). Association between hearing impairment and the quality of life of elderly individuals. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 38(1): 45–50.
- Mumford DB et al. (1997). Stress and psychiatric disorder in rural Punjab: a community survey. British Journal of Psychiatry, 170:473–478.
- Murphy HBM (1978). The meaning of symptomcheck-list scores in mental health surveys: a testing of multiple hypotheses. *Social Science and Medicine*, 12:67–75.
- Murphy LR (1996). Stress management in work settings: a critical review of the health effects.

  American Journal of Health Promotion, 11:112–135.
- Murray CJL, Lopez AD (1996). The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injury and risk factors in 1990 projected to 2020. Geneva, World Bank, World Health Organization and Harvard School of Public Health.
- Naidoo J, Wills J (2000). *Health promotion:* foundations for practice. Edinburgh, Harcourt Publishers.
- National Aboriginal Health Strategy Working Party (1989). *A national Aboriginal health strategy*.

  Canberra, Department of Aboriginal Affairs,
  Commonwealth Government of Australia.
- National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health (STAKES) and European Commission (2000). *Minimum data set of European mental health indicators*. Helsinki, National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health (STAKES).
- New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (2003). There is no health without mental health. NYC Vital Signs, 2(3). (www.nyc.gov/health/survey.)
- Nutbeam D (2000). Health promotion effectiveness the questions to be answered. In: A report for the European Commission by the International Union for Health Promotion and Education. The evidence of health promotion effectiveness: shaping public health in a new Europe, 2nd ed. Brussels-Luxembourg, European Commission:1–11

- O'Campo P, Rojas-Smith L (1998). Welfare reform and women's health: review of the literature and Implications for state policy. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 19(4):420 446.
- OECD (2001). The well-being of nations. The role of human and social capital. Education and skills. Paris, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Centre for Educational Research and Innovation.
- Olds D (1997). The Prenatal/Early Infancy Project: fifteen years later. In: Albee GW, Gullotta TP, eds. *Primary Prevention Works*. Thousand Oaks, USA: Sage Publications:41–67.
- Olds DL (2002). Prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses: from randomized trials to community replication. *Prevention Science*, 3(3):1153–1172.
- Olds DL et al. (1998). Long-term effects of nurse home visitation on children's criminal and antiosocial behaviour: a 15-year follow-up of a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 280(8):1238–1244.
- Orley J, Weisen RB (1998). Mental health promotion. *The international Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 1:1–4.
- Othaganont P, Sinthuvorakan C, Jensupakarn P (2002). Daily living practice of the life-satisfied Thai elderly. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 13: 24–29.
- Parkar SR, Fernandes J, Weiss MG (2003). Contextualizing mental health: gendered experiences in a Mumbai slum. *Anthropology and Medicine*. 10:291.
- Patel V (1998). The politics of alcoholism in India. *British Medical Journal*, 316:1394–1395.
- Patel V (2001). Poverty, inequality and mental health in developing countries. In: Leon D, Walt G, eds. *Poverty, inequality and health*. Oxford, Oxford University Press:247-262.
- Patel V, Kleinman A (2003). Poverty and common mental disorders in developing countries. *Bulletin* of the World Health Organization, 81:609–615.
- Patel V, Prince M (2001). Ageing and mental health in developing countries: who cares? Qualitative studies from Goa, India. *Psychological Medicine* 31: 29–38.
- Patel V, Rodrigues M, De Souza N (2002). Gender, poverty and post-natal depression: a cohort study from Goa, India. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159:43–47.
- Patton G et al. (2003). Changing schools, changing health? Design and implementation of the Gatehouse Project. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 33(4):231–239.

- Price R, Kompier M (in press). Work stress and unemployment: risks, mechanisms, and prevention. In: Hosman C, Jané-Llopis E, Saxena S, eds. *Prevention of mental disorders: an overview on evidence-based strategies and programs*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Price RH et al. (1988). Fourteen ounces of prevention: a casebook for practitioners. Washington, American Psychological Association.
- Price RH, Van Ryn M, Vinokur AD (1992). Impact of a preventive job search intervention on the likelihood of depression among the unemployed. Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 33:158–167.
- Puska P (2002). Successful prevention of noncommunicable diseases: 25 year experiences with North Karelia Project in Finland. *Public Health Medicine*, 4(1):5–7.
- Putnam R (1995). Bowling alone: America's declining social capital. *Journal of Democracy*, 6(1):65–78.
- Putnam R (2001). Social capital. Measurement and consequences. *ISUMA Canadian Journal of Policy Research*, Spring:4–51.
- Pyne HH, Claeson M, Correia M (2002). Gender dimensions of alcohol consumption and alcoholrelated problems in Latin America and the Caribbean. Discussion Paper No. 433. Washington, The World Bank.
- Raeburn J, Rootman I (1998). *People-centred health promotion*. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons.
- Reid JB et al. (1999). Description and immediate impacts of a preventive intervention for conduct problems. American Journal of Community Psychology, 27:483–517.
- Rose G (1992). *The strategy of preventive medicine*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Rutter M (1985). Resilience in the face of adversity. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 147:598–561.
- Rutter M (2003). Poverty and child mental health: natural experiments and social causation. Editorial. *JAMA*, 290:2063–2064.
- Sarason IG, Sarason BR, Shearin EN (1986). Social support as an individual difference variable: its stability, origins, and relational aspects. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50:845–855.
- Sartorius N (1990). Preface. In: Goldberg D, Tantam D, eds. *The public health impact of mental disorders*. Toronto, Hogrefe and Huber.
- Sartorius N (1998). Universal strategies for the prevention of mental illness and the promotion of mental health. In: Jenkins R, Ustun TB, eds. *Preventing mental illness: mental health promotion in primary care.* Chichester, John Wiley:61-67.

- Sartorius N (2003). Social capital and mental health. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 16 (Suppl. 2): \$101–\$105.
- Scheier MF, Carver CS (1992). Effects of optimism on psychological and physical well-being: theoretical overview and empirical update. Cognitive Therapy and Research, 16(2):201–228.
- Schmolke M (2003). Discovering positive health in the schizophrenic patient. A salutogenetic-oriented study. *Verhaltenstherapie*, 13:102–109.
- Schweinhart L, Weikart D (1997). The High/Scope Preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 12(2): 117–143
- Seedhouse D (1986). Health: a universal concern. *Nursing Times*, 82:36-38.
- Semmer NK (2003). Job stress interventions and organization of work. In: Quick JC, Tetrick LE, eds. *Handbook of occupational health psychology.* Washington, American Psychological Association: 325-354.
- Shaw C, McKay H (1942). *Juvenile delinquency and urban areas*. Chicago, University of Chicago Press.
- Shediac-Rizzkallah MC, Bone LR (1998). Planning for the sustainability of community-based health programs: conceptual frameworks and future directions for research, practice and policy. *Health Education Research*, 13:87–108.
- Shiell A, Hawe P (1996). Health promotion community development and the tyranny of individualism. Health Economics, 5:241–247.
- Silverman PR (1988). Widow-to-widow: a mutual help program for the widowed. In: Price et al., eds. 14 ounces of prevention: a casebook for practitioners. Washington, American Psychological Association: 175–186.
- Stephens T, Dulberg C, Joubert N (1999). Mental health of the Canadian population: a comprehensive analysis. *Chronic Diseases in Canada*, 20(3): 118–126.
- Stevens N, van Tilburg T (2000). Stimulating friendship in later life: a strategy for reducing loneliness among older women. *Educational Gerontology*, 26(1):15–35.
- Sturm R (1999). What type of information is needed to inform mental health policy? *Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 2:141–144.
- Sundar M (1999). Suicide in farmers in India [letter]. British Journal of Psychiatry, 175:585–586.

- Suomi S (2002). Evidence of gene-environment interactions in the primate laboratory. Presentation at the Johns Hopkins University Symposium The Intersection of Genomics and Enviromics, Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Susser M, Susser E (1996). Choosing a future for epidemiology: II. From black box to Chinese boxes and eco-epidemiology. American Journal of Public Health, 86(5):674–677.
- Syme SL (2003). Psychosocial interventions to improve successful aging. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 139:400–402
- Tang KC, Ehsani J, McQueen D (2003). Evidencebased health promotion: recollections, reflections and reconsiderations. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 57:841–843.
- Thomson H, Petticrew M, Douglas M (2003). Health impact assessment of housing improvements: incorporating research evidence. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 57:11–16.
- Thomson H, Petticrew M, Morrison D (2001). Housing interventions and health a systematic review. British Medical Journal, 323:187–190.
- Tobler NS (1992). Drug prevention programs can work: research findings. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*. 11:1–28.
- Tobler NS et al. (1999). Effectiveness of school-based drug prevention programs for marijuana use. *School Psychology International*, 20:105–137.
- Tobler NS, Stratton HH (1997). Effectiveness of school-based drug prevention programs: a meta-analysis of the research. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 18:71–128.
- Tomlinson M (2001). A critical look at cultural diversity and infant care. *Synergy, Australian Transcultural Mental Health Network*, Winter:3–5.
- Tones K, Tilford S (2001). *Health promotion: effectiveness, efficiency and equity.* Cheltenham, Nelson Thornes Ltd.
- Tout K (1989). *Ageing in developing countries*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Tuthill D et al. (1999). Maternal cigarette smoking and pregnancy outcome. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 13(3):245–253.
- Underwood-Gordon LG (1999). A working model of health: spirituality and religiousness as resources: applications to persons with disability. *Journal of Religion, Disability and Health*, 3(3):51–71.
- UNICEF (2002). UNICEF Annual Report 2002. New York, UNICEF.

- Vaillant G (2003). Mental Health. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160:1373–1384.
- Valdez-Menchaca M, Whitehurst G (1992).
  Accelerating language development through picture book reading: a systematic extension to Mexican day care. *Developmental Psychology*, 28(6):1106–1114.
- Van der Klink et al. (2001). The benefits of interventions for work-related stress. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(2):270–276.
- VicHealth (1999). Mental health promotion plan foundation document 1999–2002. Carlton South, Victoria, Victorian Health Promotion Foundation.
- Villar J et al. (1992). A randomized trial of psychosocial support during high-risk pregnancies. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 327(18):1266–1271.
- Walker L, Moodie R, Herrman H (2004). Promoting mental health and wellbeing. In: Moodie R, Hulme A (eds). *Hands on health promotion*. Melbourne, IP Communications.
- Weare K (2000). Promoting mental, emotional and social health: a whole school approach. London, Routledge.
- Wethington E, Brown G, Kessler R (1995). Interview measurement of stressful life events. In: Cohen S, Kessler R, Underwood GL, eds. *Measuring stress*. New York, Oxford University Press:59-79.
- WHO (1948). Constitution of the World Health Organization. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1978). Declaration of Alma-Ata: International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, Sep 6–12. Geneva, World Health Organization
- WHO (1986). Ottawa charter of health promotion. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1990). The introduction of a mental health component into primary health care. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1996). Promoting health through schools. The WHO global school health initiative. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1997). *Life skills education in schools*. Geneva, Programme on Mental Health, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1997a). *Partnerships for health in 21st century:* 2+2=5. Conference working paper on partnerships. Geneva, World Health Organization: HPR/HEP/4ICHP/PT/97.1.
- WHO (1998). *Health promotion glossary*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1998a). *Health promotion evaluation:* recommendations to policymakers. Copenhagen, World Health Organization, EURO.

- WHO (1999). A critical link: interventions for physical growth and child development. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2000). *The world health report 2000 health systems: improving performance.* Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2000a). Women's mental health: an evidence based review. Geneva, World Health Organization: WHO/MSD/MHP/00.1.
- WHO (2001). *Basic documents*. 43rd Edition. Geneva, World Health Organization:1.
- WHO (2001a). Strengthening mental health promotion. Geneva, World Health Organization (Fact sheet, No. 220).
- WHO (2001b). Mental health: new understanding, new hope. The World Health Report. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2001c). Atlas: mental health resources in the world. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2002). Prevention and promotion in mental health. Mental health: evidence and research.
  Geneva, Department of Mental Health and Substance Dependence.
- WHO (2002a). World report on violence and health: summary. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2002b). 25 questions and answers on health and human rights. Geneva, World Health Organization (Health and human rights publication series, No. 1).
- WHO (2003). *Investing in mental health*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2003a). WHO framework convention on tobacco control. World Health Assembly (www.who.int/tobacco/fctc/text/final).
- WHO (2003b). *Mental health in emergencies*. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2003c). Creating an environment for emotional and social wellbeing. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHOQOL Group (1995). The World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. *Social Science and Medicine*, 41: 1403–1409.
- Wilkinson R, Marmot M (1998). *The solid facts: social determinants of health*. Copenhagen, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe.
- Windsor R et al. (1993). The dissemination of smoking cessation methods for pregnant women: achieving the Year 2000 objectives. *American Journal of Public Health*, 83(2):173–178.

- Woolcock M (1998). Social capital and economic development: towards a theoretical synthesis and policy framework. *Theory and Society*, 27(2): 151–208
- World Bank (2000). World development report: attacking poverty. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- World Bank (2004). Social capital website (www.worldbank.org/poverty/scapital).
- Wu Z et al. (2002). Community base trial to prevent drug use amongst youth in Yunnan, China.

  American Journal of Public Health. 92:1952–1957.
- Wyn J et al. (2000). MindMatters, a whole-school approach promoting mental health and wellbeing. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 34:594–601.
- Yoshikawa H (1994). Prevention as cumulative protection: effects of early family support and education on chronic delinquency and its risks. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115:28–54.

# **Promoting Mental Health**

Mental health promotion is an unfamiliar idea to many people. Those in the field of public health and health promotion may not be aware of the possibilities for the promotion of mental health because the concepts of mental health and mental illness are unclear to them. Mainstreaming mental health in health promotion allows the energies applied to health promotion and public health to focus more effectively on this area, and enables a better understanding among professional groups of the specific approaches and rationale.

Mental health can be improved through the collective action of society. Improving mental health requires broadly based policies and programmes, as well as specific activities in the health field relating to the prevention and treatment of ill-health.

With the phrase, "No health without mental health", public health discourse now includes mental health, in its positive sense, as well as mental illness.

Just as public health and the population health approach are established in other areas such as heart health and tobacco control, so it is becoming clearer that, "Mental health is everybody's business".

#### This Summary Report offers:

- a discussion of the concepts of mental health and mental health promotion, and a description of the relationship of mental health to mental illnesses;
- a rationale for the place of mental health promotion within public health, alongside prevention of mental illness and the treatment and rehabilitation of people living with mental illnesses and related disabilities;
- the various perspectives that open when considering mental health as a public health issue, the types of evidence that exist in this area, and the feasibility of mental health promotion strategies;
- examples of the interventions possible and the responsibility of various sectors; and
- a way forward to activities that could be undertaken immediately within a variety of resource settings.

ISBN 92 4 159159 5

